
 

Thurrock - An ambitious and collaborative community which is proud of its heritage 
and excited by its diverse opportunities and future 

 

Council 
 
 
To the Members of Thurrock Council 
 
The next meeting of the Council will be held at 7.00 pm on 26 October 
2022 
 
Council Chamber, CO3, Civic Offices, New Road, Grays, Essex, 
RM17 6SL 
 
 
Membership of the Council: 
 
James Halden (Mayor) 
Susan Little (Deputy Mayor) 
 
 
Qaisar Abbas 
John Allen 
Alex Anderson 
Paul Arnold 
Chris Baker 
Gary Byrne 
Adam Carter 
Daniel Chukwu 
Colin Churchman 
Gary Collins 
George Coxshall 
Mark Coxshall 
Jack Duffin 
Tony Fish 
Robert Gledhill 
Shane Hebb 
 

Victoria Holloway 
Deborah Arnold 
Andrew Jefferies 
Barry Johnson 
Tom Kelly 
Cathy Kent 
John Kent 
Martin Kerin 
Steve Liddiard 
Ben Maney 
Fraser Massey 
Allen Mayes 
Sara Muldowney 
Augustine Ononaji 
Srikanth Panjala 
Maureen Pearce 
 

Terry Piccolo 
Georgette Polley 
Jane Pothecary 
Shane Ralph 
Kairen Raper 
Joycelyn Redsell 
Elizabeth Rigby 
Sue Sammons 
Sue Shinnick 
Jennifer Smith 
Graham Snell 
Luke Spillman 
James Thandi 
Lee Watson 
Lynn Worrall 
 

 
 

 
 
Ian Wake 
Acting Chief Executive 

 
 
 
 

 
 
Agenda published on: 18 October 2022 
 

 



 
 

 



 
 

 
Agenda 

 
Open to Public and Press 

  Page  
1   Apologies for absence  

 
 

 
2   Minutes 

 
 

 Minutes and Question Transcript from the 13 October 2022 Council 
Meeting will be available in the 30 November 2022 agenda. 
 

 

 
3   Items of Urgent Business 

 
 

 To receive additional items that the Mayor is of the opinion should be 
considered as a matter of urgency, in accordance with Section 100B 
(4) (b) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

 

 
4   Declaration of Interests 

 
 

 To receive any declaration of interests from Members. 
 

 
 
5   Announcements on behalf of the Mayor or the Leader of the 

Council  
 

 

 
6   Questions from Members of the Public 

 
11 - 12 

 In accordance with Chapter 2, Part 2 (Rule 14) of the Council’s 
Constitution. 
 

 

 
7   Petitions from Members of the Public and Councillors 

 
 

 In accordance with Chapter 2, Part 2(Rule 14) of the Council’s 
Constitution. 
 

 

 
8   Petitions Update Report  

 
13 - 14 

 
9   Appointments to Committees and Outside Bodies, Statutory 

and Other Panels 
 

 

 The Council are asked to agree any changes to the appointments 
made to committees and outside bodies, statutory and other panels, 
as requested by Group Leaders. 
 

 

 



 
 

10   Ethical Standards - Changes to the Constitution  
 

15 - 110 
 
11   Questions from Members 

 
111 - 112 

 In accordance with Chapter 2, Part 2 (Rule 14) of the Council’s 
Constitution. 
 

 

 
12   Reports from Members representing the Council on Outside 

Bodies  
 

 

 
13   Minutes of Committees 

 
 

 Name of Committee Date 

Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

16 June 2022 

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 12 July 2022 

Cleaner Greener and Safer Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

14 June 2022 

  
 

 

 
14   Update on motions resolved at Council during the previous year  

 
 

 
15   Motion submitted by Councillor Polley  

 
113 - 114 

Queries regarding this Agenda or notification of apologies: 
 
Please contact Jenny Shade, Senior Democratic Services Officer by sending an 
email to Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk 
 
Future Dates of Council:  
 
30 November 2022, 25 January 2023 and 22 February 2023 (Budget) 



Information for members of the public and councillors 
 

Access to Information and Meetings 

 
Advice Regarding Public Attendance at Meetings  
 
If you are feeling ill or have tested positive for Covid and are isolating you should 
remain at home, the meeting will be webcast and you can attend in that way.  
 
Hand sanitiser will also be available at the entrance for your use.  
 
Recording of meetings  
This meeting will be live streamed and recorded with the video recording being 
published via the Council’s online webcast channel: www.thurrock.gov.uk/webcast 
 
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact Democratic Services at 
Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk 
 
Guidelines on filming, photography, recording and use of social media at 
council and committee meetings  
 
The council welcomes the filming, photography, recording and use of social media at 
council and committee meetings as a means of reporting on its proceedings because 
it helps to make the council more transparent and accountable to its local 
communities. If you wish to film or photograph the proceedings of a meeting and have 
any special requirements or are intending to bring in large equipment please contact 
the Communications Team at CommunicationsTeam@thurrock.gov.uk before the 
meeting. The Chair of the meeting will then be consulted and their agreement sought 
to any specific request made. 
 
Where members of the public use a laptop, tablet device, smart phone or similar 
devices to use social media, make recordings or take photographs these devices 
must be set to ‘silent’ mode to avoid interrupting proceedings of the council or 
committee. The use of flash photography or additional lighting may be allowed 
provided it has been discussed prior to the meeting and agreement reached to 
ensure that it will not disrupt proceedings.  
 
The Chair of the meeting may terminate or suspend filming, photography, recording 
and use of social media if any of these activities, in their opinion, are disrupting 
proceedings at the meeting. 
 

  

Page 1

http://www.thurrock.gov.uk/webcast
mailto:Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk
mailto:CommunicationsTeam@thurrock.gov.uk


 
Thurrock Council Wi-Fi  
 
Wi-Fi is available throughout the Civic Offices. You can access Wi-Fi on your device 
by simply turning on the Wi-Fi on your laptop, Smartphone or tablet. 
 
• You should connect to TBC-GUEST 
• Enter the password Thurrock to connect to/join the Wi-Fi network. 
• A Terms & Conditions page should appear and you have to accept these before 

you can begin using Wi-Fi. Some devices require you to access your browser to 
bring up the Terms & Conditions page, which you must accept. 
 

The ICT department can offer support for council owned devices only. 
 
Evacuation Procedures  
In the case of an emergency, you should evacuate the building using the nearest 
available exit and congregate at the assembly point at Kings Walk. 
 

How to view this agenda on a tablet device 

 

You can view the agenda on your iPad or Android Device with the free 
modern.gov app. 
 

 
Members of the Council should ensure that their device is sufficiently charged, 
although a limited number of charging points will be available in Members Services. 
 
To view any “exempt” information that may be included on the agenda for this 
meeting, Councillors should: 
 
• Access the modern.gov app 
• Enter your username and password 

 
 
 

Page 2

https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en


DECLARING INTERESTS FLOWCHART – QUESTIONS TO ASK YOURSELF 
 

Breaching those parts identified as a pecuniary interest is potentially a criminal offence 
 
Helpful Reminders for Members 
 

• Is your register of interests up to date?  
• In particular have you declared to the Monitoring Officer all disclosable pecuniary interests?  
• Have you checked the register to ensure that they have been recorded correctly?  

 
When should you declare an interest at a meeting? 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• What matters are being discussed at the meeting? (including Council, Cabinet, 
Committees, Subs, Joint Committees and Joint Subs); or 

• If you are a Cabinet Member making decisions other than in Cabinet what matter is 
before you for single member decision?

Does the business to be transacted at the meeting 
• relate to; or 
• likely to affect 

any of your registered interests and in particular any of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interests? 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests shall include your interests or those of:

• your spouse or civil partner’s
• a person you are living with as husband/ wife
• a person you are living with as if you were civil partners

where you are aware that this other person has the interest.

A detailed description of a disclosable pecuniary interest is included in the Members Code of Conduct at Chapter 7 of the 
Constitution. Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer about disclosable pecuniary interests.

What is a Non-Pecuniary interest? – this is an interest which is not pecuniary (as defined) but is nonetheless so  
significant that a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard to be so significant 
that it would materially impact upon your judgement of the public interest.

If the Interest is not entered in the register and is not the subject of a pending 
notification you must within 28 days notify the Monitoring Officer of the 
interest for inclusion in the register 

Unless you have received dispensation upon previous 
application from the Monitoring Officer, you must:
- Not participate or participate further in any discussion of 

the matter at a meeting; 
- Not participate in any vote or further vote taken at the 

meeting; and
- leave the room while the item is being considered/voted 

upon
If you are a Cabinet Member you may make arrangements for 
the matter to be dealt with by a third person but take no further 
steps

If the interest is not already in the register you must 
(unless the interest has been agreed by the Monitoring 

Officer to be sensitive) disclose the existence and nature 
of the interest to the meeting

Declare the nature and extent of your interest including enough 
detail to allow a member of the public to understand its nature

Non- pecuniaryPecuniary

You may participate and vote in the usual 
way but you should seek advice on 
Predetermination and Bias from the 

Monitoring Officer.

Page 3



 

PROCEDURE FOR MOTIONS 
 

 
No speech may exceed 4 minutes without the consent of the Mayor [Rule 19.8], except for the 
proposer of any motion who shall have 5 minutes to move that motion (except on a motion to 

amend where the 4 minute time shall apply) [Rule 19.8(a)] 
All Motions will follow Section A and then either Section B or C 

 
A. A1 Motion is moved     [Rule 19.2] 

A2 Mover speaks         [Rule 19.8(a) (5 minutes) 
A3 Seconded           [Rule 19.2]  
A4 Seconder speaks or reserves right to speak [Rule 19.3] (4 minutes) 
 
Then the procedure will move to either B or C below: 

B. 
 
IF there is an AMENDMENT (please 
see Rule 19.23) 

C. 
 
If NOT amended i.e. original motion 

B1 The mover of the amendment shall 
speak (4 mins). 

C1 Debate. 

B2 The seconder of the amendment 
shall speak unless he or she has 
reserved their speech (4 mins). 

C2 If the seconder of the motion has reserved 
their speeches, they shall then speak. 

B3 THEN debate on the subject. C3 The mover of the substantive motion shall 
have the final right of reply. 

B4 If the seconder of the substantive 
motion and the amendment 
reserved their speeches, they shall 
then speak.  

C4 Vote on motion. 

B5 The mover of the amendment shall 
have a right of reply.  

  

B6 The mover of the substantive 
motion shall have the final right of 
reply.  

  

B7 Vote on amendment.   
B8 A vote shall be taken on the 

substantive motion, as amended if 
appropriate, without further debate.  

  

 
 
 
 

Page 4



 
 
Our Vision and Priorities for Thurrock 
 

An ambitious and collaborative community which is proud of its heritage and excited by 
its diverse opportunities and future. 
 
 
1. People – a borough where people of all ages are proud to work and play, live and 

stay 
 

• High quality, consistent and accessible public services which are right first time 
 

• Build on our partnerships with statutory, community, voluntary and faith groups 
to work together to improve health and wellbeing  
 

• Communities are empowered to make choices and be safer and stronger 
together  

 
 
2. Place – a heritage-rich borough which is ambitious for its future 
 

• Roads, houses and public spaces that connect people and places 
 

• Clean environments that everyone has reason to take pride in 
 

• Fewer public buildings with better services 
 
 
 
3. Prosperity – a borough which enables everyone to achieve their aspirations 
 

• Attractive opportunities for businesses and investors to enhance the local 
economy 
 

• Vocational and academic education, skills and job opportunities for all 
 

• Commercial, entrepreneurial and connected public services 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



WW2 in Memoriam 
 

Remembering Thurrock’s Fallen : Civilian Deaths 
due to enemy action and Roll of Honour 

 
Today we share names on the Roll of Honour. These are people whose home 
address was shown as Thurrock who lost their lives during the Second World War 
whilst serving with the armed forces or merchant navy. 
 
In recognition of the adversity and bravery experienced by ordinary people in 
Thurrock civilian deaths are also noted here in relevant months. 101 non-combatants 
were killed in Thurrock between 1939 and 1945 who will also be remembered. 
 
A special thanks to Museum volunteer Pam Purkiss for compiling the Roll of Honour 
information. Civilians added by Valina Bowman-Burns from Thurrock Museum. 
 
The names have been listed in date order. 
 

October 1942 
 

AMBROSE Fred 
WEST Albert O 

HYDE Hilda May 
CRUDGINGTON Arthur W 

BOND Frederick Albert 
WOOD Henry F 

FINN Patrick 
NICHOLS Edward 

 
 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Mayoral Roll of Honour 

 
The Roll of Honour has been introduced to recognise and 

celebrate charities, businesses, individuals, and community 
groups that have strived to make Thurrock a greater place 

to live, work, learn and play. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

October 2022 
 

Rachhpal Singh – Services to public and voluntary sector 
MADE – Services to troubled young people 

Hafiz Islam – Services to the religious communities 
Olga Rance- Services to voluntary sector and helping Ukrainians 

Lidia Alexanchin- Services to voluntary sector and helping 
Ukrainians 

Anita and Harmesh Singh – Services to local community 
Georgina Clark – Services in Education and the community 
Mike Ostler – Services to the local community and history 

 
 

 

 

  
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 
No questions were received from members of the public. 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Petitions Update Report  
 
 

Petition 
No. 

Description Presented  
(date) 

Presented 
(at)  

Responsible 
Director 

Status   
 

565 We the undersigned call on Thurrock Planning 
department to urgently re-engage with Persimmon 
Homes and use its enforcement powers to ensure the 
construction workers and residents of Stanford 
Meadow immediately desist from crossing the ditch 
between Persimmons Estate and the residents private 
land as a cut through access. We ask that Thurrock 
Council and Persimmon Homes work together to re-
plan and install more robust security measures 
between the two estates which will reduce the loss of 
amenity caused by current lack of security and reduce 
the visibility from the new development into the above 
properties. Tree planting would not be a deterrent, also 
the cycle track/walkway has over a six-foot drop which 
it has never had before, and it risks injury or worse. A 
duty of care must be taken into account for the public 
using the area. 

21/9/2022 Office Julie Rogers Update to be provided at 
the 30 November 2022 
Council meeting. 

 

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

26 October 2022 ITEM: 10 

Council 

Ethical Standards - Changes to the Constitution  

Wards and communities affected:  
All 

Key Decision:  
n/a 

Report of: Standards and Audit Committee 

Accountable Assistant Director: Mark Bowen, Interim Head of Legal Services and 
Deputy Monitoring Officer 

Accountable Director: N/A 

This report is Public 
 
Executive Summary 
 
This report recommends changes to the Council’s Constitution in accordance with 
recommendations made by the national Committee on Standards in Public Life in its 
report on Local Government Ethical Standards – to update the Member Code of 
Conduct. The report also recommends the adoption of the social media policy for 
Members.  
 
 
1. Recommendation(s) 
 
1.1 The adoption of the Local Government Association Model Councillor 

Code of Conduct as set out in Appendix 1 to replace Members Code of 
Conduct 15 November 2013 set out in Chapter 7, Part 3. 

 
1.2 The adoption of the Social Media policy for Members as set out in 

Appendix 2 - to be incorporated into the Constitution as Chapter 7 Part 
3A. 
 

1.3 To note that the Standards and Audit committee considered the LGA’s 
Guidance on Member Code of Conduct Complaints Handling and 
recommended that the Monitoring Officer revises the Council’s existing 
arrangements to reflect best practice for approval at a future meeting of 
Full Council.  
 

2. Introduction and Background 
 
2.1 At the Standards and Audit Committee meeting of 7 July 2022, we considered 

the report at Annex A, outlining proposed changes to the Council Constitution 

Page 15

Agenda Item 10



 

in relation to the Member Code of Conduct and ethical standards. The 
proposed changes are in accordance with recommendations made by the 
National Committee on Standards in Public Life in its report on Local 
Government Ethical Standards and the LGA Model Member Code of Conduct.  

 
2.2 We noted that the Council’s current code of conduct was adopted in 2013 and 

has the potential to be refreshed. We considered that the LGA model code is 
clearer of the standards expected of Members then the Council’s existing 
code. It provides clarity and advice about the application of the code in more 
detail and sets out obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct 
required of a councillor 

 
2.3      We also considered a proposed social media policy for Members, as use of 

social media by Members and managing it effectively can be challenging. 
Increasingly complaints received about Members originate or have some 
basis in social media comments and activities. We considered that the 
proposed social media policy for Members will assist Members in their use of 
social media. We agreed that the social media policy for Members be 
recommended to Full Council for adoption at the same time as the new code. 

 
2.4      We also considered the LGA’s, guidance on handling member code of 

conduct complaints and agreed that Monitoring Officer revises the Council’s 
existing arrangements for handling Member Code of Conduct complaints to 
reflect best practice, to enhance public confidence in the process and to assist 
Members in understanding the process. This further work will report back to 
our committee for consideration and on to a future meeting of Full Council for 
approval. 

 
3. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options 
 
3.1 It would be open to the Council not to approve the proposed changes to the 

Constitution. However, this is not recommended, as the proposed changes 
are in accordance with best practice in relation to ethical standards. The 
proposed amendments will provide clarity and ensure the Council’s ethical 
governance processes are transparent, readily understood by members, 
officers, and the public, and thereby promote and maintain high ethical 
standards and enhance public confidence in the Council.  

 
4. Reasons for Recommendation 
 
4.1 The recommendations are in accordance with the report of Local Government 

Ethical Standards and seek to improve the Council’s ethical governance 
arrangements and transparency   

 
5. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable) 
 
5.1 N/A 

 

Page 16



 

6. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance, and community 
impact 

 
6.1 The Council’s Constitution supports the governance of the Council and its 

decision-making and conduct of elected Members thereby assisting the 
Council to meet its corporate policies, priorities, performance, and community 
impact.   

 
7. Implications 
 
7.1 Financial 

 
Implications verified by: Dammy Adewole 

 Senior Management Accountant – Resources 
and Place Delivery 

 
The proposed changes to the Constitution and any training needs that may 
rise will be met by the Democratic Services budget. 
 

7.2 Legal 
 
 Implications verified by: Gina Clarke 

Corporate Governance Lawyer and Deputy 
Monitoring Officer 

 
Section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 places a duty on the Council to promote 
and maintain high standards of conduct by members and co-opted members 
and to adopt a code dealing with the conduct that is expected of members 
and co-opted members when they are acting in that capacity. 

  
Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Council’s Code to be 
consistent with the principles of selflessness, integrity, objectivity, 
accountability, openness, honesty, and leadership. The Council may revise its 
existing code of conduct under section 28(5) of the Localism Act 2011. 

 
The Council’s Member Code of Conduct form part of the Constitution. Only full 
Council may make changes to the Constitution.   
 
 

7.3 Diversity and Equality 
 
Implications verified by: Natalie Smith 

 Strategic Lead – Community Development and 
Equalities 

 
No equality implications directly arise from this report.  

Page 17



 

7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health Inequalities, 
Sustainability, Crime and Disorder, and Impact on Looked After Children 
 
None 

 
8. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 

on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright):  

            
           The Council’s Constitution – Council website   
           Report of the standards and Audit Committee 10 March 2022 
           Report of the standards and Audit Committee 7 July 2022 - Council website 
 
9. Appendices to the report 
 

• Appendix 1: Report of the Standards and Audit Committee – 7 July 2022  
 
 
 
Report Author: 
 
Gina Clarke 
Corporate Governance Lawyer and Deputy Monitoring Officer  
Legal Services 

Page 18



Appendix 1 

7 July 2022  ITEM: 9 

Standards and Audit Committee 

Ethical Standards 

Wards and communities affected:  
N/A 

Key Decision:  
Non-Key 

Report of: Gina Clarke, Corporate Governance Lawyer & Deputy Monitoring Officer 

Accountable Assistant Director: Mark Bowen, Interim Head of Legal 

Accountable Director: Sean Clark, Corporate Director of Resources and Place 
Delivery 

This report is Public 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The committee in March 2022 considered the Local Government Association’s 
LGA’s model Councillor Code of Conduct, agreed that Monitoring Officer review the 
process for handling Member Code of Conduct complaints, and the Protocol on 
Member/Officer relations (with potential to introduce a Member/Member Protocol) 
and to develop a social media policy. 
 
The committee is asked to recommend to Council that the Local Government 
Association’s (LGA) model Councillor Code of Conduct and the Social media policy 
for Members are adopted. The committee is asked to consider the LGA’s Guidance 
on Member Code of Conduct Complaints Handling. 
. 
 
1. Recommendation(s) 
 
1.1     The committee recommend to Full Council the adoption of the Local   

Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct as set out 
in  Appendix 1. 

 
1.2     The committee consider and recommend to Full Council the adoption of 

the Social Media policy for Members as set out in Appendix 2 
 
1.3      The committee consider the LGA’s Guidance on Member Code of 

Conduct Complaints Handling and that the Monitoring Officer revises 
the Council’s existing arrangements to reflect best practice.  

 
 
2. Introduction and Background 

Page 19



Appendix 1 

 
Model Councillor Code of Conduct: 

 
2.1 Following the Localism Act 2011, the code of conduct rules for councillors and 

the standards process for dealing with allegations of breaches of the code of 
conduct changed significantly. Whereas previously there was a national code 
of conduct for councillors drawn up by Standards for England (formerly the 
Standards Board) and enforced both by the Standards for England and (later) 
by each local authority. This included imposing sanctions on councillors, 
which could include suspending them from office.  

 
2.2     Standards for England and the national code of conduct were abolished by the 

2011 Act, and it is now up to each local authority to adopt their own code of 
conduct to promote high standards of conduct which must be consistent with 
the Nolan principles of public life: selflessness, integrity, objectivity, 
accountability, openness, honesty, and leadership. In addition, each local 
authority was required to decide on the process for handling code of conduct 
complaints and the sanctions to enforce their code of conduct. The ability of 
councils to make sanctions against members was significantly watered down; 
to a level where many question their effectiveness as the sanction to suspend 
members from office was abolished. 

 
2.3 By virtue of section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 the Council is required to  

promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members and co-opted  
members. Within the limitations imposed by the Localism Act, the Council can 
and try to do what can be done to prevent behaviour, which could be:  
 

• considered as bullying or harassment to officers, other Members and 
sometimes to members of the public.  

• to take action to prevent Members from revealing confidential 
information which they have received in their role as a member; and  

• not to participate in any behaviour which would be felt to be inadvisable 
or inappropriate. 

 
2.4     The Council’s current code of conduct was adopted in 2013 and has the 

potential to be refreshed to give greater clarity on the standard of behaviour 
expected of Member and to cover issues such as the use of social media and 
the need to observe confidentiality in electronic communications.  

 
2.5      The Local Government Association (‘LGA’) Model Code was presented to the 

last meeting of the committee for consideration and to recommend to Councill 
to adopt the Model Code. As the committee has had the opportunity to 
consider the Model Code, it is proposed that the committee now agree to 
recommend to Council adopt the Model Code now that the outcome of the 
Government’s consideration of the recommendations of the Committee on 
Standards and Public Life CPSL report has been published. The 
Governments response in relation to the CPSL’s recommendation that local 
authorities should be given power to suspend Councillors who are found to 

Page 20



Appendix 1 

have breached their Council’s code of conduct is set out in paragraph 2.20.of. 
below.  

 
 2.6     A copy of the LGA model code is attached at Appendix 1. The main provisions 

of the LGA Model Code of Conduct are summarised below:  
 

The code of conduct applies as soon as a Member sign their declaration of 
acceptance of the office of councillor form and continues to apply until they 
cease to be a Councillor. It also applies when acting in the capacity as a 
Councillor and applies to all forms of communication and interaction including 
electronic and social media communication. This can include when a member 
of the public could reasonably have the impression a Member was acting as a 
councillor.  

 
The Code sets out obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct 
required of a councillor. These cover treating people with respect, not to bully, 
harass any person, a requirement to promote equalities and not unlawfully 
discriminate against any person, impartiality, confidentiality, and access to 
information, not bringing the Council into disrepute, use of a Member’s 
position and use of Council resources and facilities. There is also a 
requirement for a Member to undertake code of conduct training, to co-
operate with a code of conduct investigation, not intimidate any person 
involved in any investigation and comply with any sanctions imposed. 

 
The Code sets out requirements to protect the reputation of Members and the 
reputation of their Authority - for Members to register and declare interests in 
situations where a conflict of interest might arise. In addition to the statutory 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests which Members must register, declare, and 
not participate in meetings. This also covers the disclosure of Other 
Registrable Interests and Non-Registrable Interests. The model code 
introduces an obligation to register as an Other Registerable Interest any 
unpaid directorships. Non-registrable interests cover situations where a matter 
affects a member’s financial interest or wellbeing, or that of a friend, relative or 
close associate.  
 
The model code introduces an obligation not to accept and gifts or hospitality 
of any value which could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or 
reasonable suspicion of influence/ from any person who may apply to the 
council for any permission or licence or significant advantage. Gifts or 
hospitality of £50.00 or more in value must be registered, as must any 
significant gift or hospitality which has been offered but has been refused. 

 
2.7     The adoption of the code is a council matter and so it is up to Full Council to 

adopt any changes in the code. Accordingly, it is necessary for the committee 
to make such recommendations to Full Council. 

 
2.8     In many ways the LGA code is clearer of the standards expected of Members 

then the existing code which was adopted by the council in 2013. It 

Page 21



Appendix 1 

           extends the advice and clarity about the application of the code in more detail. 
It is open to the council to make any changes to the code it wishes if these are 
within the scope of the Localism Act. It is worth noting that there has to date 
been little case law on the meaning of some provisions of the Localism Act 
and so any code must be considered with that caveat in mind. 

   
Social Media Policy 

 
2.9 The use of social media and managing it effectively as an elected member 

can be challenging. Increasingly complaints received about Members 
originate or have some basis in social media comments and activities. Many 
Members will have a single social media account on which they post both 
councillor and private business. If they were then to be accused of putting 
something on a private platform not connected with the council, this could 
potentially be considered as part of a code of conduct complaint and a finding 
could be made of a breach.  

 
2.10    Members of local authorities have enhanced protection in relation to freedom 

of speech under Article 10 (1) of the European Convention of Human Rights, 
for Members to hold and express opinions and in summary protects the right 
for them to criticise, speculate and make value judgements, if there is some 
reasonable factual basis for their opinion. 

 
 2.11   However a breach of the Members Code of Conduct can be found where 

comments are not considered to be political expression but are simply 
expressions of personal anger and abuse. Therefore, Members how make 
comments on social media which fall outside their enhanced protections right 
are liable to found in breach of the Member Code of conduct. A copy of the 
proposed Social Media policy for Members is attached at Appendix 2. The 
committee is invited to recommend to Council to adopt the social media policy 
for the policy to be adopted at the same time as the new code. The 
requirement for compliance with the proposed policy is intended to assist 
Members in their use of social media. 

 
Councillor Complaints Process  

 
2.12    Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011 requires, the council to have in place 

arrangements under which allegations that a Member has failed to comply 
with the council’s code of conduct can be investigated and decisions made on 
such allegations. The Act requires that arrangements agreed by the council 
must include provision for the appointment by the authority of at least one 
independent person whose views are to be sought and considered, by the 
council before it makes its decision on an allegation that it has decided to 
investigate. However, the Act it does not set out how complaints are to be 
handled. 

 
   2.13     The CSPL also made recommendations for a framework in dealing with 

complaints to ensure consistency and enhance public confidence in the 
process. In response to requests received by the LGA as part of its 

Page 22



Appendix 1 

consultation in 2020 on the LGA model councillor code of conduct, it has 
prepared guidance on handling member code of conduct complaints. The 
guidance is designed to assist monitoring officers, and anyone nominated by 
a monitoring officer to conduct investigations on their behalf and to assist 
councillors in understanding the process (Appendix 3). 

  
2.14   The Monitoring Officer plays a key role to drive higher standards and better 

conduct, by promoting education and support to councillors. Under the 
existing arrangements, the Monitoring Officer has authority to undertake an 
initial assessment of complaints. The assessment of a complaint would 
normally be a two-step process, described in the CPSL report as the 
‘can/should’ stages – the first stage being ‘can we deal with this complaint?’ 
and the second being ‘should we deal with this complaint?’ The first step 
would be a jurisdictional test the complaint fails one or more of these tests it 
cannot be investigated as a breach of the Code, and the complainant must be 
informed that no further action will be taken in respect of the complaint. If 
there is any doubt, however, the allegation should proceed to the second 
stage. Once these jurisdictional tests have been met the complaint is then 
assessed against criteria set out in the arrangements and decides what 
action, if any, to take. These criteria should reflect local circumstances and 
priorities and be simple, clear, and open. They should ensure fairness for both 
the complainant and the subject member. In Thurrock, the Monitoring has 
delegated authority to carry out the initial assessments of complaints as 
outlined above, and to decide what action if any should be taken. 
 

2.15   The council’s existing arrangements for handling member code of conduct 
complaints at Appendix 4, would benefit from being updated to clarify any 
areas of ambiguity and provide additional clarity to the complaints process 
and incorporate other processes detailed in the LGA Guidance to reflect best 
practice, to: 

 
           (i) provide greater clarity as timescales of the steps for assessing complaints 
           (ii) to review and update the assessment criteria against which complaints  
                are initially assessed.  

(ii) an alternative process for assessment of a complaint by a Panel of 
Members where the Monitoring Officer considers it appropriate based on 
specified criteria e.g., where the matter is high profile, or the Monitoring 
Officer has a conflict of interest  
(iii) No right of appeal/ review against a decision not to take any further action 
to operate an efficient and proportionate system.  
(iv) Best practice for conducting investigations and producing a final report.  

 
2.16    It is recommended that the Monitoring Officer updates the Council’s existing 

arrangements to reflect best practice set out in the LGA Guidance Standards 
Committee may make such amendments to the proposed revised procedures 
as it considers appropriate. A further report to come back to the next 
committee meeting for the committee to consider the proposed changes with 
a recommendation that the committee recommend to Full Council to approve 
the changes. 

Page 23



Appendix 1 

 
Sanctions 

 
2.17   One of the recommendations of the CSPL was that local authorities be given        

the power to suspend councillors without allowances for up to six months for 
breaches of the code of conduct. The Government’s published response of 18 
March 2022 to the CPSL’s recommendation on such a sanction is: 

  
“There is no provision in current legislation for a sanction to suspend a 
councillor found to have breached the code of conduct, and this was a 
deliberate policy decision by the Coalition Government at the time of the 
Localism Act 2011 to differentiate from the previous, failed Standards Board 
regime. The Standards Board regime allowed politically motivated and 
vexatious complaints and had a chilling effect on free speech within local 
government. These proposals would effectively reinstate that flawed regime. 

 
It would be undesirable to have a government quango to police the free 
speech of   councillors; it would be equally undesirable to have a council body 
(appointed by councillors, and/or made up of councillors) sitting in judgment 
on the political comments of fellow councillors. 

 
On the rare occasions where notable breaches of the code of conduct have 
occurred, local authorities are not without sanctions under the current regime. 
Councillors can be barred from Cabinet, Committees, or representative roles, 
and may be publicly criticised. If the elected member is a member of a political 
group, they would also expect to be subject to party discipline, including being 
removed from that group or their party. Political parties are unlikely to reselect 
councillors who have brought their group or party into disrepute. All councillors 
are ultimately held to account via the ballot box. 

 
As part of the government’s response to the Committee’s report on 
intimidation in public life, the government recommended that every political 
party establish their own code of conduct for party members, including elected 
representatives. 

 
The government will engage with sector representative bodies of councillors 
and officers of all tiers of local government to seek views on options to 
strengthen sanctions to address breaches of the code which fall below the bar 
of criminal activity and related sanctions but involve serious incidents of 
bullying and harassment or disruptive behaviour.” 

 
2.18   The implication of the government’s response on sanctions is that the council 

or a committee of the council has limited powers to only impose certain 
measures as sanctions which does not in any way interfere with the 
Councillor’s duties or the will of the electorate.  

 
2.19   Typical sanctions which can be imposed may include one or a combination of 

the following: 
 

Page 24



Appendix 1 

• Making a finding the Councillor has breached the code and report it to 
council 

• Resolving to formally censure the Councillor 
• Recommend to the Councillor’s group leader (or in the case of un-grouped 

councillors, recommend to council) that they be removed from any or all 
committees or sub-committees, or Outside Body (as appropriate)  

• recommend to the Leader of that the subject member be removed from 
positions of responsibility 

• Requiring the Councillor to undergo training. 
• if relevant recommend to council that the Councillor be removed from their 

role as leader of the authority 
• if relevant recommend to the secretary or appropriate official of a political 

group that the councillor be removed as group leader or other position of 
responsibility. 

• Removing equipment/facilities for a specified period where there is a clear 
link to the breach, and it proportionate to take such action 

 
2.20   In certain circumstances there are criminal sanctions which amount to a 

criminal offence. 
 

• Section 34 of the Localism Act makes it a criminal offence if a member or 
co-opted member fails, without reasonable excuse, fails to register or 
declare disclosable pecuniary interests, or take part in council business at 
meetings or when acting alone when prevented from doing so by having a 
pecuniary interest and not having obtained a dispensation. Complaints are 
investigated by the police and prosecuted by the Director of Public 
Prosecutions. If convicted a Magistrates Court can impose a fine of up to 
£5000 and an order disqualifying the person from being a member of a 
relevant authority for up to five years. There has been one conviction since 
2012 when the section came in which led to a conditional discharge and no 
disqualification.  

 
• If a Councillor commits a criminal offence and is sentenced to a term of 

imprisonment of 3 months or more, they are automatically disqualified. The 
same applies to a Councillor who commits certain sexual offences or must 
make certain notifications or has orders imposed in respect of sexual 
offences under the recent Local Government (Disqualification) Act 2022 

 
2.21   Accordingly, it is recommended that the committee recommend to Full Council 

that the LGA model code and the social media policy be adopted by Full 
Council at the same time. In addition, it is recommended  to the committee to 
consider the  LGA guidance for handling member code of conduct complaints 
and that the Monitoring Officer revises the Council’s existing arrangements to 
reflect best practice.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

 
3. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options 
 

Page 25



Appendix 1 

3.1     The Committee could decide to not agree the recommendations set in the 
report. However, this is not recommended as it is important that the Council 
acts in accordance with best practice when it comes to ethical governance. 

 
3.2     The recommendations provide clarity to the Council’s ethical governance  

processes and are clearly understood by members, officers, and the public, 
and thereby promote high standards of conduct and greater confidence in the 
Council. 

 
4. Reasons for Recommendation 
 
4.1 To ensure that the Council’s current ethical framework, within the limitations of 

the Localism Act 2011, is conducive to promoting and maintaining the 
standards expected by the public and is strengthened. The recommendations 
would enhance the fairness and transparency of the standards process and  
protect the integrity of decision-making, whilst maintaining public confidence.  
 

4.2     Revising the authority’s arrangements reflect best practice and in accordance 
with the principles, of fairness, transparency, proportionately and impartially 
thereby giving the public and councillors confidence in the process.  

 
5. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable) 
 
5.1     The Standards and Audit Committee are the appropriate consultees for ethical 

standards, although the changes will be raised for noting at the forthcoming 
Constitution Working Group.  

  
6. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance, and community 

impact 
 
6.1 The Council’s Constitution supports the governance of the Council and its  

decision-making, thereby assisting the Council to meet its corporate policies 
and priorities, as well as maintaining public confidence. 

 
7. Implications 
 
7.1 Financial 

 
Implications verified by: Dammy Adewole 

 Senior Management Accountant – Resources 
and Place Delivery  

 
There are no direct financial implications expected from this proposed policy 
change. 

 
7.2 Legal 

 
Implications verified by: Gina Clarke   

Page 26



Appendix 1 

 Corporate Governance Lawyer & Deputy 
Monitoring Officer 

 
Section 27 of the Localism Act 2011, requires the Council to promote 
and maintain high standards of conduct by members and co-opted  
members and to adopt a code dealing with the conduct that is expected of  
members and co-opted members when they are acting in that capacity. 
 

          Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Council’s code of conduct to 
be consistent with the principles of selflessness, integrity, objectivity, 
accountability, openness, honesty, and leadership. The Council may revise its 
existing code of conduct under section 28(5) of the Localism Act 2011. 
 
The Council’s Code of Conduct, Arrangements for handling complaints, and 
the Protocol for Member/Officer Relations form part of the Constitution. Only 
Full Council may make changes to the Constitution by virtue of Chapter 2, 
Part Three – Responsibility for Council functions paragraphs 1.5 and 1.9. In 
addition, by virtue of paragraph 1.5 approval of a Social Media Protocol to 
form part of the Constitution would also require Full Council approval. 
 
As the Government has indicated that they are now actively considering the  
recommendations set out in the CSPL report on Local Government Ethical  
Standards which included that associated legislative changes be made to the  
ethical standards regime. An update report to the committee will include  
details of any proposed changes together with the further details of the 
proposed changes to the Council’s ethical governance arrangements 
recommended in this report, if agreed.  

 
7.3 Diversity and Equality 

 
Implications verified by: Rebecca Lee 

 Team Manager, Community Development & 
Equalities 

 
The local and national codes for ethical standards referred to in the body of 
the report take into consideration equality and diversity requirements as set 
out in legislation and the Council’s policies. A Community Equality Impact 
Assessment will be completed for any new or revised policy/policies. 
 

7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e., Staff, Health Inequalities, 
Sustainability, Crime and Disorder and Impact on Looked After Children 
 
Not applicable.  

 
8. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 

on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright): 

Page 27



Appendix 1 

 
• Committee on Standards on Public Life report on Local Government 

Ethical Standards 
• LGA model Code of Conduct and supplementary guidance 

 
9. Appendices to the report 
 

• Appendix 1 LGA model Code of Conduct  
• Appendix 2 Social Media Guidelines for Councillors  
• Appendix 3 LGA Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct 

Complaints Handling 
• Appendix 4 Thurrock Council’s Procedure for making a complaint against a 

Councillor 
 
Report Author: 
 
Gina Clarke 
Corporate Governance Lawyer & Deputy Monitoring Officer 
Law and Governance 

Page 28



Page 1 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Local Government Association   

Model Councillor Code of Conduct 2020   
 

 

Joint statement   

The role of councillor across all tiers of local government is a vital part of our  country’s   

system of democracy. It is important that as councillors we can be held  accountable and all  

adopt the behaviors and responsibilities associated with the  role. Our conduct as an   

individual councillor affects the reputation of all councillors.  We want the role of councillor to  

be one that people aspire to. We also want  individuals from a range of backgrounds and   

circumstances to be putting themselves  forward to become councillors.   

As councillors, we represent local residents, work to develop better services and  deliver   

local change. The public have high expectations of us and entrust us to  represent our local  

area, taking decisions fairly, openly, and transparently. We have  both an individual and   

collective responsibility to meet these expectations by  maintaining high standards and   

demonstrating good conduct, and by challenging  behaviour which falls below expectations.   

Importantly, we should be able to undertake our role as a councillor without being   

intimidated, abused, bullied, or threatened by anyone, including the general public.   

This Code has been designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good  conduct and  

safeguard the public’s trust in local government.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



Page 2 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

  
Introduction   

The Local Government Association (LGA) has developed this Model Councillor Code  of   

Conduct, in association with key partners and after extensive consultation with the  sector,   

as part of its work on supporting all tiers of local government to continue to  aspire to high   

standards of leadership and performance. It is a template for councils  to adopt in whole   

and/or with local amendments.   

All councils are required to have a local Councillor Code of Conduct.   

The LGA will undertake an annual review of this Code to ensure it continues to be fit-  for-  

purpose, incorporating advances in technology, social media and changes in  legislation. The  

LGA can also offer support, training and mediation to councils and  councillors on the   

application of the Code and the National Association of Local  Councils (NALC) and the   

county associations of local councils can offer advice and  support to town and parish   

councils.   

 

Definitions   

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a “councillor” means a member or co-opted   

member of a local authority or a directly elected mayor. A “co-opted member”  is defined in  

the Localism Act 2011 Section 27(4) as “a person who is not a member  of the authority but  

who   

a)  is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or;   

b)  is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or joint  sub-  
committee of the authority;   

and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of  that   
committee or sub-committee”.   

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, “local authority” includes county councils, district  

councils, London borough councils, parish councils, town councils, fire and  rescue   

authorities, police authorities, joint authorities, economic prosperity boards, combined   

authorities and National Park authorities.   

 

Purpose of the Code of Conduct   

The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a councillor, in modelling  the   

behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, and  to set out  

the type of conduct that could lead to action being taken against you. It is  also to protect   

you, the public, fellow councillors, local authority officers and the  reputation of local   

government. It sets out general principles of conduct expected of  all councillors and your  

specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct. The  LGA encourages the use of   

support, training and mediation prior to action being  taken using the Code. The   

fundamental aim of the Code is to create and maintain  public confidence in the role of   

councillor and local government.   

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 30



Page 3 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

 
General principles of councillor conduct   

Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public  services,  

including ministers, civil servants, councillors and local authority officers;  should uphold  

the Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the Nolan  Principles.   

Building on these principles, the following general principles have been developed   

specifically for the role of councillor.   

In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions:   

•  I act with integrity and honesty   

•  I act lawfully   

•  I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and   

•  I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the role  of   
councillor.   

In undertaking my role:   

•  I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local community   

•  I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any   

person   

•  I avoid conflicts of interest   

•  I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and   

•  I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my local   
authority’s requirements and in the public interest.   

 

Application of the Code of Conduct   

This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of  acceptance of  

the office of councillor or attend your first meeting as a co-opted  member and continues to  

apply to you until you cease to be a councillor.   

This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a councillor   
which may  include when:   

•  you misuse your position  as a councillor    

•  Your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the public  with   
knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a councillor;    

The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including:   

 

•  at face-to-face meetings   

•  at online or telephone meetings   

•  in written communication   

•  in verbal communication   

•  in non-verbal communication   

•  in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and   
comments.   

You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at  all times   
when acting as a councillor.   

Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the  Code of   

Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring  Officer on any   

matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct. Town and parish  councillors are   

encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk, who may refer matters to  the Monitoring   

Page 31

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2


Page 4 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

Officer.   

 

Standards of councillor conduct   

This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct required  of 

you as a councillor. Should your conduct fall short of these standards, a  complaint may  be 

made against you, which may result in action being taken.   

Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and how they  should be  

followed.   

General Conduct   

1.  Respect   

As a councillor:   

1.1 I treat other councillors and members of the public with respect.   

1.2 I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of  partner   

organisations and those volunteering for the local authority with  respect and   
respect the role they play.   

Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written  word.   

Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a  councillor, you  

can express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas,  opinions and policies in a  

robust but civil manner. You should not, however, subject  individuals, groups of people or   
organisations to personal attack.   

 
In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. Rude  and   

offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in  councillors.   

In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If members  of the  

public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop  any   

conversation or interaction in person or online and report them to the local  authority, the   

relevant social media provider or the police. This also applies to fellow  councillors, where   

action could then be taken under the Councillor Code of Conduct,  and local authority   

employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the local  authority’s councillor-  

officer protocol.   

2.  Bullying, harassment and discrimination   

As a councillor:   

2.1 I do not bully any person.   

2.2 I do not harass any person.   

2.3 I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against any   

person.   

The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises bullying as   
offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power   

through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying  might be  

a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-to-face, on  social media, in  

emails or phone calls, happen in the workplace or at work social  events and may not always  

be obvious or noticed by others.   

The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that  causes   

alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such conduct on at least  

two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose  unwanted communications and   

Page 32



Page 5 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

contact upon a person in a manner that could be  expected to cause distress or fear in any   

reasonable person.   

Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected   

characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a person's   

identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, gender  reassignment,   

marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion  or belief, sex and   

sexual orientation.   

The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Councillors have a  central  

role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the local authority's  performance   

and strategic aims, and that there is a strong vision and public  commitment to equality   

across public services.   

 

3.  Impartiality of officers of the council  

As a councillor:   

 

3.1 I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of   

anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the local authority.   

Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless  they   

are political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a  way that would  

undermine their neutrality. You can question officers in order to  understand, for example,   

their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the  content of a report that they   
have written. However, you must not try and force them  to act differently, change their   

advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so  would prejudice their professional   

integrity.   

4.  Confidentiality and access to information   

As a councillor:   

4.1 I do not disclose information:   

a.  given to me in confidence by anyone   

b.  acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be   

aware, is of a confidential nature, unless   

i.  I have received the consent of a person authorised to give  it;   

ii.  I am required by law to do so;   

iii.  the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of   

obtaining professional legal advice provided that the third   

party agrees not to disclose the information to any other   

person; or   

iv.  the disclosure is:   

1.  reasonable and in the public interest; and   

2.  made in good faith and in compliance with the   

reasonable requirements of the local authority; and   

3.  I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its   

release.   

 

4.2 I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role  as a  

councillor for the advancement of myself, my friends, my family  members,  

my employer or my business interests.   

 
4.3 I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled  to by   

law.   

Page 33



Page 6 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and  printed   

materials are open to the public, except in certain legally defined  circumstances. You should  

work on this basis, but there will be times when it is  required by law that discussions,   

documents and other information relating to or held  by the local authority must be treated in   

a confidential manner. Examples include  personal data relating to individuals or information  

relating to ongoing negotiations.   

 
 

5.  Disrepute   

As a councillor:   

 

5.1 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute.   

As a Councillor, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and  your   

actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary  members of the   

public. You should be aware that your actions might have an  adverse impact on you, other   

councillors and/or your local authority and may lower  the public’s confidence in your or your   

local authority’s ability to discharge your/its functions. For example, behaviour that is   

considered dishonest and/or deceitful can bring your local authority into disrepute.   

You are able to hold the local authority and fellow councillors to account and are able  to   

constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and processes  undertaken by  

the council whilst continuing to adhere to other aspects of this Code of  Conduct.   

6.  Use of position   

As a councillor:   

6.1 I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the advantage  or   

disadvantage of myself or anyone else.   

Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain  opportunities,   

responsibilities, and privileges, and you make choices all the time that  will impact others.   

However, you should not take advantage of these opportunities to  further your own or   

others’ private interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly.   

7.  Use of local authority resources and facilities   

As a councillor:   

7.1 I do not misuse council resources.   

7.2 I will, when using the resources of the local authority or authorising their use 

by   

others:   

a.  act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; and   

b.  ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes unless   

that use could reasonably be regarded as likely to facilitate, or be   

conducive to, the discharge of the functions of the local authority or of  

the office to which I have been elected or  appointed.   

You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to assist you  in   

carrying out your duties as a councillor.   

Examples include:   

•  office support   

•  stationery   

•  equipment such as phones, and computers   

•  transport   

Page 34



Page 7 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

•  access and use of local authority buildings and rooms.   

 
These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a councillor more  effectively and  

are not to be used for business or personal gain. They should be  used in accordance with  

the purpose for which they have been provided and the  local authority’s own policies   
regarding their use.   

8.  Complying with the Code of Conduct   

As a Councillor:   

8.1 I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local authority.   

8.2 I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or  

determination.   

 
8.3 I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to  be  

involved with the administration of any investigation or proceedings.   

 
8.4 I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a finding that I have   

breached the Code of Conduct.   

It is extremely important for you as a councillor to demonstrate high standards, for you to   

have your actions open to scrutiny and for you not to undermine public trust in  the local   

authority or its governance.  If you do not understand or are concerned  about the local   

authority’s processes in handling a complaint you should raise this  with your Monitoring   

Officer.   

Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority   

9.  Interests   

As a councillor:   

9.1 I register and disclose my interests.   

Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to establish and   
maintain a register of interests of members of the authority .   

You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority employees and  fellow   

councillors know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest.  The register  is 

a public document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue  arises. The register   

also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and  a willingness to be held   

accountable. You are personally responsible for deciding  whether or not you should   

disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for  you to know early on if others think  

that a potential conflict might arise. It is also  important that the public know about any   

interest that might have to be disclosed by  you or other councillors when making or taking   

part in decisions, so that decision  making is seen by the public as open and honest. This   

helps to ensure that public  confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained.   

You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as set   

out in Table 1, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011.   

Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing interests. If  in   

doubt, you should always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer.   

 
 
 

 

Page 35



Page 8 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

10. Gifts and hospitality   

As a councillor:   

10.1  I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value,  which  

could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or a  reasonable   

suspicion of influence on my part to show favour from  persons seeking to  

acquire, develop or do business with the local authority or from persons   

who may apply to the local authority for any  permission, licence or other  

significant advantage.   

 
10.2  I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an  

estimated value of at least £50 within 28 days of its receipt.   

 
10.3  I register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or   

hospitality that I have been offered but have refused to accept.   

In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you should   

exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you  reasonably   

believe to be) offered to you because you are a councillor. The  presumption should always  

be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality. However,  there may be times when such a  

refusal may be difficult if it is seen as rudeness in  which case you could accept it but must  

ensure it is publicly registered. However,  you do not need to register gifts and hospitality   

which are not related to your role as  a councillor, such as Christmas gifts from your friends  

and family. It is also important  to note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses and  

hospitality associated  with your duties as a councillor. If you are unsure, do contact your   

Monitoring Officer for guidance.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 36



Page 9 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

Appendices   

Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life   

The principles are:   

Selflessness   

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.   

Integrity   

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to  people or   

organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work.  They should not  

act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material  benefits for themselves,   
their family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve  any interests and relationships.   

Objectivity   

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit,  using   

the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.   

Accountability   

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions  and   

must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.   

Openness   

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent  manner.   

Information should not be withheld  from  the public  unless there  are  clear  and  lawful   

reasons for so doing.   

Honesty   

Holders of public office should be truthful.   

Leadership   

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They  should  

actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to  challenge poor   

behaviour wherever it occurs.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 37



Page 10 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

Appendix B Registering interests   

Within 28 days of becoming a member or  your re-election or re-appointment to office you must   
register  with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out  in   
Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as described in “The Relevant   
Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012”. You should also register    
details of your other personal interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 2   
(Other Registerable  Interests).   

 
 “Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means  an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are  
aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 below.   

 
"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband  
or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners.   

1.  You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within  28  

days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a  registered  

interest, notify the Monitoring Officer.   

 

2.  A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the   

councillor, or a person connected with the  councillor, being subject to violence   
or intimidation.   

 
3.  Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer  with  

the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring  Officer   

agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register.   

 

Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest   

4.  Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your  Disclosable   

Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the interest, not   

participate  in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room  

unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you  do not  

have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an interest.   

Dispensation may be granted in limited circumstances, to enable you to participate   

and vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest.   

 

5.  [Where  you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered or is   
being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of  your executive function,   
you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or   
further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it ]  

 

Disclosure of Other  Registerable Interests   

6.  Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to the financial interest or 

wellbeing of one of your Other Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must 

disclose the interest. You may speak on the  matter only if members of the public are 

also allowed to speak at  the meeting  but otherwise must not take part in any 

discussion or vote on the matter  and  must not remain in the room unless you have 

been granted a dispensation. If  it  is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose 

the nature of the interest.   

 

 

Page 38



Page 11 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

Disclosure of  Non-Registerable Interests   
 

7.  Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial  interest   

or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest  set out in Table 1) or a   

financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, you must  disclose the  

interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the  public are also allowed  

to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you  must not take  part in any discussion or vote  

on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a   

dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you  do not have to disclose the nature of   
the interest.   

 

8.  Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects –   

a.  your own financial interest or well-being;   

b.  a financial interest or well-being of a  relative or close associate; or   

c.  a financial interest or wellbeing of a body included under Other Registrable Interests  as    

set out in Table 2   

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the   
meeting after disclosing your interest  the following test should be applied   

 

9.  Where a matter (referred to in paragraph 8 above) affects the financial interest or well-being:   

a.  to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority  of   
inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;   

b.  a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe  that it   
would affect your view of the wider public interest   

You may speak on the matter only if members  of the public are also allowed to   

speak at the meeting. Otherwise you  must not  take part in any discussion or vote   

on the matter and must not remain in the  room unless you have been granted a   

dispensation.   

If it is a ‘sensitive  interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.   

 
10. [Where you have an Other Registerable Interest or Non-Registerable Interest on a matter 

to be considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of  
your executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must 
not take any steps or  further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else 
to deal with it]  

    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 39



Page 12 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

 

Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests   

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in  the  

Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 Any employment, office, trade,   

profession or vocation carried on for  
profit or gain.   

 

Sponsorship   Any payment or provision of any other   
financial benefit (other than from the   
council) made to the councillor during  the  
previous 12-month period for expenses   
incurred by him/her in  carrying out   
his/her duties as a councillor, or towards  
his/her election  expenses.   
This includes any payment or financial   
benefit from a trade union within the   
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour  
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.   

Contracts   Any contract made between the   
councillor or his/her spouse or civil   

partner or the person with whom the   

Subject  Description   

Employment, office, trade,   
profession or vocation   

Page 40

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


Page 13 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 councillor is living as if they were   
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which   
such person is a partner, or an incorporated  
body of which such person  is a director* or   
a body that such person has a beneficial   
interest in the securities  of*) and the council  
—   

(a) under which goods or services are to  be  

provided or works are to be executed; and   

(b) which has not been fully discharged.   

Land and Property   Any beneficial interest in land which is  
within the area of the council.   
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude,   
interest or right in or over land which does  
not give the councillor or his/her spouse or  
civil partner or the person with whom the   
councillor is living as if they were spouses/  
civil partners (alone or jointly with another)  
a right to occupy  or to receive income.   

Licenses   Any licence (alone or jointly with others)  to  
occupy land in the area of the council  for a  
month or longer   

Corporate tenancies   Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s  
knowledge)—   

(a) the landlord is the council; and   
(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor,  
or his/her spouse or civil partner or the   
person with whom the councillor is living as  
if they were spouses/ civil partners is a   
partner of or  a director* of or has a   
beneficial interest in the securities* of.   

Securities   Any beneficial interest in securities* of a  
body where—   

(a) that body (to the councillor’s   

knowledge) has a place of business or   
land in the area of the council; and   

(b) either—   

(i) ) the total nominal value of the   
securities* exceeds £25,000 or one  
hundredth of the total issued share   

capital of that body; or   
(ii) if  the  share  capital  of  that  body  is  of  
more  than  one  class,  the  total  nominal  
value  of  the  shares  of  any  one  class  in  
which the councillor, or his/ her spouse  or  
civil partner or the person with whom  the  
councillor is living as if they were   

Page 41



Page 14 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and   

provident society.   

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of  a   

collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and  Markets Act  

2000 and other securities of any description, other than money  deposited with a building   

society.   

Table 2: Other Registrable Interests   

 

You must register as an Other Registerable Interest : 
 
   a) any unpaid directorships 

b ) any body of which you are a member or are in a position of general control or 
management and to which you  are nominated or appointed by your authority   

c) any body   

(i)  exercising functions of a public nature   

(ii)  directed to charitable purposes or    

(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion   
or policy (including any political party or trade union)   
 

of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 spouses/civil partners have a beneficial  
interest exceeds one hundredth of the  
total issued share capital of that class.   

Page 42



Page 15 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

Appendix C – the Committee on Standards in Public Life   

The LGA has undertaken this review whilst the Government continues to consider  the   

recommendations made by the Committee on Standards in Public Life in their  report on   

Local Government Ethical Standards. If the Government chooses to  implement any of the   

recommendations, this could require a change to this Code.   

The recommendations cover:   

•  Recommendations for changes to the Localism Act 2011 to clarify in law when  the   
Code of Conduct applies   

•  The introduction of sanctions   

•  An appeals process through the Local Government Ombudsman   

•  Changes to the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests)   
Regulations 2012   

•  Updates to the Local Government Transparency Code   

•  Changes to the role and responsibilities of the Independent Person   

•  That the criminal offences in the Localism Act 2011 relating to Disclosable   
Pecuniary Interests should be abolished   

The Local Government Ethical Standards report also includes Best Practice   
recommendations. These are:   

Best practice 1: Local authorities should include prohibitions on bullying and  harassment in  

codes of conduct. These should include a definition of bullying and  harassment,   

supplemented with a list of examples of the sort of behaviour covered  by such a definition.   

Best  practice  2:  Councils  should  include  provisions  in  their  code  of  conduct  requiring  

councillors  to  comply  with  any  formal  standards  investigation  and  prohibiting  trivial  or  

malicious allegations by councillors.   

Best practice 3: Principal authorities should review their code of conduct each year  and   

regularly seek, where possible, the views of the public, community organisations  and   

neighbouring authorities.   

Best practice 4: An authority’s code should be readily accessible to both councillors  and   

the public, in a prominent position on a council’s website and available in council  premises.   

Best practice 5: Local authorities should update their gifts and hospitality register at  least   

once per quarter, and publish it in an accessible format, such as CSV.   

Best practice 6: Councils should publish a clear and straightforward public interest  test   

against which allegations are filtered.   

Best practice 7: Local authorities should have access to at least two Independent   

Persons.   

Best practice 8: An Independent Person should be consulted as to whether to undertake a  

formal investigation on an allegation, and should be given the option to   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 43

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report


Page 16 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

review and comment on allegations which the responsible officer is minded to  dismiss   

as being without merit, vexatious, or trivial.   

Best practice 9: Where a local authority makes a decision on an allegation of  misconduct   

following a formal investigation, a decision notice should be published as  soon as possible  

on its website, including a brief statement of facts, the provisions of  the code engaged by   

the allegations, the view of the Independent Person, the  reasoning of the decision-maker,   

and any sanction applied.   

Best practice 10: A local authority should have straightforward and accessible  guidance   

on its website on how to make a complaint under the code of conduct, the  process for   

handling complaints, and estimated timescales for investigations and  outcomes.   

Best practice 11: Formal standards complaints about the conduct of a parish  councillor   

towards a clerk should be made by the chair or by the parish council, rather than the clerk in  

all but exceptional circumstances.   

Best practice 12: Monitoring Officers’ roles should include providing advice, support  and   

management of investigations and adjudications on alleged breaches to parish  councils   

within the remit of the principal authority. They should be provided with  adequate training,   

corporate support and resources to undertake this work.   

Best practice 13: A local authority should have procedures in place to address any   

conflicts of interest when undertaking a standards investigation. Possible steps  should   

include asking the Monitoring Officer from a different authority to undertake  the   

investigation.   

Best practice 14: Councils should report on separate bodies they have set up or  which   

they own as part of their annual governance statement and give a full picture  of their   

relationship with those bodies. Separate bodies created by local authorities  should abide by  

the Nolan principle of openness and publish their board agendas  and minutes and annual   

reports in an accessible place.   

Best practice 15: Senior officers should meet regularly with political group leaders or  group  

whips to discuss standards issues.   

 

The LGA has committed to reviewing the Code on an annual basis to ensure it is still  

fit for purpose.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



Thurrock Council - Social Media Guidelines for Councillors 

1. Introduction  

This policy aims to ensure appropriate use of social media by Councillors’ and Co-opted Members. 

Users must ensure that they use social media sensibly, responsibly, lawfully, and that Council 

information remains secure and is not compromised. Also, that use will not expose the Council, its 

business to security risks, reputational damage, breach of Data Protection laws or legal claims. 

This social media policy is to be read in conjunction with the Member code of Conduct.  

2. Purpose  

This Policy provides support and guidelines on how to use social media, how to effectively manage 

social media usage. It also provides guidance on some of the risks and pitfalls that specifically apply 

to Councillors and Co-opted Members and how to avoid these. This guidance is not exhaustive and if 

you have any queries, you should seek further guidance from the Monitoring Officer. 

 3. Responsibilities of Councillors and Co-opted Members  

• You are personally responsible for any content that you publish on social media or allow to 

be published in the form of a comment. Your posts are in the public domain and are subject 

to both the Council’s Member Code of Conduct and relevant Law. 

• You will need to monitor and, where appropriate, censor or remove the contributions made 

by others to your site. Make sure you are confident of the validity and nature of the 

information you publish. Allowing defamatory, untrue, or offensive statements to remain on 

a site could give rise to a libel action for which you may be personally liable to pay damages, 

no indemnity from the Council will be available. Abusive, bullying, or racist posts may 

amount to a criminal offence. Also, Code of Conduct issues could arise where you allow 

comments to remain on your site, as this could be seen as condoning or endorsing them.  

• Also ‘liking,’ ‘sharing’ or ‘re-tweeting’ posts could appear to be an endorsement of them and 

can be a separate instance of publication by you, to which all the legal and Code of Conduct 

considerations would apply.  

• Bear in mind that publishing information and images that are not yours, without permission, 

may also result in an award of damages against you. Seek permission from the copyright 

holder in advance.  

• Always ensure the security of your devices to prevent unauthorised access by third parties 

who may make inappropriate use of the device.  

• Make use of privacy settings if you do not want the press or public to access your social 

media platform. Read the terms of service of any social media site accessed and make sure 

you understand their confidentiality/privacy settings. 

4. Principles for using social media 

You should follow these guiding principles for any social media activities:  

• Keep your posts professional, respectful, and polite – especially when corresponding with 

others who are discourteous, as you are still governed by the Code of Conduct and rules of 

confidentiality during online exchanges.  

• Make sure that you respect people’s confidentiality – do not disclose non-public information 

from Council meetings, discussions or documents or the personal information of others, 

including photographs, without their express permission to do so.  

Page 45



• Be credible and consistent – be accurate, fair, thorough, and transparent. Encourage 

constructive criticism and deliberation. Make sure that what you say online is consistent 

with your other communications. 

• Be honest about who you are – it is important that any accounts or profiles that you set up 

are clearly and easily identifiable. As you are personally responsible for the content you 

publish on any form of social media, it is important to clarify between your professional and 

private life, possibly having separate accounts. It is recommended that you have separate 

social media profiles for your role as a Councillor or Co-opted Member and for your private 

life. Do not use the Council’s logo, or any other Council related material on a personal 

account or website.  

• Do not enter unhelpful online arguments, as everyone online will be witnessing this. Ignore 

people or block them if they persist in vexatious comments.  

• If you make a mistake - admit it. Mistakes happen so do not try to cover it up as there will 

always be a record of what you have said.  

• Be responsive – share what you know and answer any questions in a in a timely manner. Put 

people in touch with someone who can help if you cannot. 

• Think carefully about who to ‘follow’ or ‘befriend’ online. It is inadvisable unless you have 

good reason for doing so. Online ‘friendships’ with council officers should be avoided as they 

may compromise the appearance of impartial advice. Following or befriending contractors 

who have been procured to provide services to the council, a company or member of the 

public making a planning application or pressure groups, might be construed as having a 

close personal association with them and therefore a personal interest.  

Bias and pre-determination  

If you sit on regulatory committees such as planning or licensing, you can have a particular 

view on an application, but must not go as far as to have predetermined your position on a 

matter. Bear in mind that any relevant views you might have aired on social media about 

certain issues could be used as evidence of you making a decision in advance of hearing all 

relevant information. The Council’s decision is then open to challenge and could be set 

aside. Also, provisions of the Code of Conduct for Members could be engaged. 

 Elections 

You must not use social media on Council mobile devices or IT equipment, for 

political/campaign purposes.  

Use of social media during Committee Meetings 

It is important to consider that use of mobile devices at meetings may give the impression to 

others that you are not giving sufficient attention to discussions at committee meetings. 

Bear in mind that this could lead to the relevant decision coming under challenge if you are 

perceived to have to have made a decision without having properly listened to the debate. It 

could also result in Code of Conduct complaints.  

5. Inappropriate Use of social media by Others 

Be aware of your own safety when placing information on the internet and do not publish 

information which could leave you vulnerable. 

Anyone receiving threats, abuse, or harassment via their use of social media should report it 

to their group leader, the Monitoring Officer and /or the police. Other inappropriate content 

Page 46



can be reported to the social media site directly to ask for it to be removed. It is suggested 

that you that save a screenshot of any inappropriate post as evidence in the circumstances. 

Safeguarding is everyone’s business, if you have any concerns about other site users, you 

have a responsibility to report these.  

 

Dated 30 May 2022 

 

 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Guidance on Member Model Code of 
Conduct Complaints Handling 
This guidance, together with the guidance prepared for councillors to help them 
understand and follow the revised Local Government Association (LGA) Model 
Councillor Code of Conduct (2020), has been prepared in response to requests 
received by the LGA as part of our consultation in 2020 on the LGA Model 
Councillor Code of Conduct. It is designed to assist monitoring officers, and 
anyone nominated by a monitoring officer to carry out investigations on their 
behalf and to assist councillors in understanding the process. Local authorities may 
have different practices and arrangements in place. However, the principles of 
fairness, proportionality, transparency and impartiality will still apply. 
21 Sep 2021 
 
1. Introduction 

It is vital that the public has confidence in the high standards of local government, 
and that there is transparency about the conduct of councillors and the mechanisms 
for dealing with alleged breaches of the Codes of Conduct. Equally, it is vital that 
councillors themselves have confidence in these mechanisms, and that 
investigations into such complaints abide by the principles of natural justice. 

Any reference in this guidance to ‘you’ is a reference to a monitoring officer, a 
deputy monitoring officer, or any person nominated by them to carry out their 
functions. Furthermore, any reference to the ‘subject member’ is a reference to the 
councillor who is the subject of the allegation and references to an Independent 
Person means an Independent Person appointed under s. 28(7) of the Localism Act 
2011. 

Under the Model Code of Conduct, councillors are required to cooperate with any 
Code of Conduct investigation and respect the impartiality of officers. This is in 
recognition of the key role monitoring officers have in ensuring what might be 
contentious and difficult issues are handled fairly. This guidance is to support them 
in carrying out their duties. 

The system of regulation of standards of councillor conduct in England is governed 
by the Localism Act 2011. Local authorities must have a Code of Conduct for 
councillors, which must be consistent with the “Seven Principles of Public Life”, 
selflessness, honesty, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness and 
leadership. 

Under Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011, local authorities (other than parish and 
town councils) must have in place ‘arrangements’ under which allegations that an 

Page 49



elected or co-opted councillor of the authority or of a town or parish council within 
the principal authority’s area has failed to comply with the authority’s Code of 
Conduct can be considered and decisions made on such allegations. It is for the 
principal authority to decide the details of those arrangements, but they must 
appoint at least one Independent Person whose views are to be taken into account 
before making a decision on a complaint that they have decided to investigate. 

This guidance is for guidance purposes only and where it differs from the 
authority’s own arrangements under the Localism Act then the authority’s 
arrangements should be followed. 

s28      (6) A relevant authority other than a parish council must have in place— 

(a) arrangements under which allegations can be investigated, and 

(b) arrangements under which decisions on allegations can be made. 

(7) Arrangements put in place under subsection (6)(b) by a relevant authority must 
include provision for the appointment by the authority of at least one independent 
person— 

(a) whose views are to be sought, and taken into account, by the authority before it 
makes its decision on an allegation that it has decided to investigate, and 

(b) whose views may be sought— 

(i) by the authority in relation to an allegation in circumstances not within 
paragraph (a), 

(ii) by a member, or co-opted member, of the authority if that    person’s behaviour 
is the subject of an allegation, and 

(iii) by a member, or co-opted member, of a parish council if that person’s 
behaviour is the subject of an allegation and the authority is the parish council’s 
principal authority. 

The case of R (Harvey) v Ledbury Town Council 2018 (R Taylor v Honiton 
TC) made clear that allegations of a failure to follow an authority’s Code of 
Conduct can only be considered in accordance with the principal authority’s 
standards arrangements. Though the conduct complained of may give rise to a staff 
grievance, for example, the subject member cannot receive a sanction outside of 
the standards arrangements. 

Background 

Page 50



More than 100,000 people give their time as councillors. The majority do so with 
the very best motives, and they conduct themselves in a way that is beyond 
reproach. However, public perception tends to focus on a minority who in some 
way abuse their positions or behave badly. Even where behaviour does falls short 
most issues are resolved easily through a simple apology or through swift action 
from an officer, a political group or meeting chair. Reference to the Code of 
Conduct and a formal complaint are very much the last resort where issues remain 
unresolved. 

Anyone who considers that a councillor may have breached the Code of Conduct 
may make a complaint to that councillor’s local authority, usually via the principal 
authority’s monitoring officer. Each complaint must be assessed to see if it falls 
within the authority’s legal jurisdiction, for example whether the subject member 
was acting as a councillor or representative of the authority at the time. A decision 
must then be made on whether or not some action should be taken, either as an 
investigation or some other form of action. 

When a matter is referred for investigation or other action, it does not mean that a 
decision has been made about the validity of the allegation. It simply means that 
the authority believes the alleged conduct, if proven, may amount to a failure to 
comply with the Code of Conduct and that some action should be taken in response 
to the complaint. 

The process for dealing with Code of Conduct complaints must be fair and be seen 
to be fair. 

2. Initial assessment of complaints 

Responsibilities 

The law does not specify how complaints are to be handled. However, in most 
authorities, initial assessment of complaints that a councillor may have breached 
the Code of Conduct is usually carried out by the authority’s monitoring officer. In 
other authorities all complaints go to an assessment committee of councillors for 
consideration. This is a matter for local choice, but the authority should be satisfied 
that whatever assessment arrangements it adopts, the assessment can be carried out 
fairly, objectively and without undue delay. 

Even where the matter is normally delegated to the monitoring officer, they may 
reserve the right to refer the matter to a committee of councillors, for example 
where the monitoring officer has a conflict of interest or the matter is particularly 
high-profile. 

Page 51



Whichever approach (or any other) is taken, it is important to have published 
criteria against which complaints can be assessed to aid transparency and 
consistency (see below). 

Independent Persons (IPs) are people who are neither councillors nor officers of 
the authority but are appointed under Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011 to work 
with the authority to support them with Code of Conduct complaints and standards 
issues. Under the Localism Act their views must be sought and taken into account 
on any matter under investigation, the subject member may seek their views at any 
stage and the authority may also seek their views at any other stage of the process. 

The Committee on Standards in Public Life has recommended that authorities 
should also seek the views of the IP when initially assessing a case as a further way 
of ensuring consistency and enhancing public confidence in the framework. 

Pre-assessment 

Publicising the complaints system 

Local authorities, including parish and town councils, should publish information 
on their websites about the Code of Conduct, about what can and cannot be 
considered as a complaint, how to complain (including a standard complaints form 
if appropriate) and where Code of Conduct complaints should be sent to. They 
should also provide clear details of the procedures they will follow in relation to 
any written allegation received about a councillor. 

Where a principal authority is responsible for handling complaints about its parish 
and town councillors, it should also make this clear. 

The submission of complaints and accessibility 

Local authorities should consider that some complainants will not know where to 
direct their complaint. Some complaints may also need to be considered through 
more than one of an authority’s complaint processes. 

Officers dealing with any incoming complaints to the authority will therefore need 
to be alert to a complaint that a councillor may have breached the Code. If a 
written complaint specifies or appears to specify that it is in relation to the Code, 
then it should be passed to the relevant person for consideration. 

Local authorities may produce a complaint form which sets out all the information 
they expect to receive from a complainant. This can be helpful to both the authority 
and the complainant. However, authorities cannot compel complainants to use a 
complaint form. 

Page 52



If an authority does not have a complaint form, it should nevertheless give clear 
guidelines as to the information that complainants need to provide. 

The required information may include: 

• the complainant’s name, address and other contact details; 
• who the complainant is, for example, a member of the public, fellow 

councillor or officer; 
• who the complaint is about and the authority or authorities that the 

councillor belongs to; 
• details of the alleged misconduct including, where possible, dates, witness 

details and other supporting information; 
• equality monitoring data if applicable, for example the nationality of the 

complainant. 

The authority should also make it clear that only in exceptional circumstances 
would a complainant be granted confidentiality and that as a matter of fairness the 
complainant’s identity would normally be disclosed to the subject member (see 
section below on confidentiality). 

A complaint may arise from an expression of dissatisfaction or concern, which 
come about in a number of ways initially, including verbally. In such cases, the 
monitoring officer should ask the complainant whether they want to formally put 
the matter in writing. If the complainant does not, then the monitoring officer 
should consider the options for informal resolution to satisfy the complainant. If it 
is a significant complaint, which the complainant is unwilling to commit to writing 
(for example because they feel they are being bullied), the monitoring officer may 
wish to reassure the complainant about confidentiality and draft the complaint for 
agreement with the complainant. 

Under the Localism Act, however, formal complaints must be submitted in writing. 
This include electronic submissions, though the requirement for complaints to be 
submitted in writing must be read in conjunction with the Equality Act 2010 and 
the duty to make adjustments. For example, a complainant may have a disability 
that prevents them from making their complaint in writing. In such cases, 
authorities may need to transcribe a verbal complaint and then produce a written 
copy for approval by the complainant or the complainant’s representative. 

Authorities should also consider what support should be made available to 
complainants. 

Authorities should not normally allow anonymous complaints as that would be 
against the principles of transparency and fairness and make matters much more 
difficult to investigate. However, there may be exceptional compelling reasons 
why an anonymous complaint could be accepted without detriment to the process 

Page 53



and where the allegation can be evidenced without reference to the complainant. 
For example, if an anonymous complainant submitted a video showing the 
councillor acting inappropriately or sent in documentation disclosing an undeclared 
directorship in a matter relating to local authority business, it may be considered 
that the public interest in investigating the allegation outweighed the issue of 
anonymity. 

Please note that anonymity and confidentiality are different concepts. Anonymity 
means the complainant is not known whereas confidentiality means that the 
complainant is known to the authority but their identity has been withheld for a 
specific reason. 

Complaints which identify criminal conduct or a breach of other regulations by any 
person may be referred to the police or any other relevant regulatory agency for 
consideration, in accordance with any agreed protocol. In such cases the authority, 
in agreement with the other body, should consider pausing the assessment of the 
complaint pending action by the other body. 

Acknowledging receipt of a complaint 

When a complaint is received by the local authority the relevant officer should 
acknowledge its receipt and set out the process to be taken to assess the complaint 
with an agreed timescale. 

The authority may also notify the subject member that a complaint has been 
received and invite their comments on it within an agreed timescale. In deciding 
whether or not to notify the subject member they would need to weigh up different 
factors. For example, would telling the subject member risk that the complainant 
may be intimidated or evidence destroyed, or if the complaint seems to fall outside 
of the jurisdiction of the Code is there any need to hear from the councillor? 
However, the presumption would normally be to invite the subject member to 
comment as this can help the authority to decide whether a matter can be dealt with 
informally without the need for a formal investigation, for example. 

If the authority does tell the subject member about the complaint, the relevant 
officer will need to be satisfied that they have the legal power to disclose the 
information they choose to reveal. Additionally, the impact of the Data Protection 
Act 2018 and UK General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) should be 
considered to ensure that any personal data is processed fairly and lawfully at 
every stage of the process. Reasonable expectations of privacy need to be balanced 
against the public interest. 

Pre-assessment enquiries and reports 

Page 54



When the authority notifies the subject member that a complaint has been made 
about them, and seeks any relevant comments, the subject member should be given 
a short timeframe in which to submit their comments such as 10 working days 
from the date of the notification. In parish cases the principal authority may also 
notify the clerk and may ask for relevant factual information which would help in 
the assessment of the complaint. 

In notifying the subject member it should be made clear that no judgment one way 
or the other has been made about whether the allegation is in fact true. 

The authority may contact complainants for clarification of their complaint if they 
are unable to understand the document submitted. 

The authority may also carry out preliminary enquiries, for example whether the 
member was in fact present at the meeting to which the complaint relates. 
However, such enquiries should be limited to readily-available public records so as 
not to extend to a more formal investigation. 

In authorities where the assessment is carried out by a committee rather than an 
officer, they may decide that they want the monitoring officer, or other officer, to 
prepare a short summary of a complaint for the committee to consider. This could, 
for example, set out the following details: 

• Whether the complaint is within jurisdiction; 
• The paragraphs of the Code of Conduct the complaint might relate to, or the 

paragraphs the complainant has identified; 
• A summary of key aspects of the complaint if it is lengthy or complex; 
• Any further information that the officer has obtained to assist the committee 

with its decision, for example initial comments from the subject member, 
minutes of meetings or a copy of a councillor’s entry in the register of 
interests. However, it should be noted that these pre-assessment enquiries 
should not be carried out in such a way as to amount to an investigation. For 
example, they should not extend to interviewing potential witnesses, the 
complainant, or the subject member (although they may have been asked for 
initial comments) as that would be a matter for any formal investigation 
should the case proceed; 

• The views of the Independent Person. 

Assessment 

Initial tests 

The assessment of a complaint would normally be a two-step process, described by 
the Committee on Standards in Public Life as the ‘can/should’ stages – the first 

Page 55



stage being ‘can we deal with this complaint?’ and the second being ‘should we 
deal with this complaint?’. 

The first step would be a jurisdictional test and would assess whether the complaint 
is: 

• against one or more named councillors of the authority or of a parish or 
town council the authority is responsible for; 

• the named councillor was in office at the time of the alleged conduct; 
• the complaint relates to matters where the councillor was acting as a 

councillor or representative of the authority and it is not a private matter; 
• the complaint, if proven, would be a breach of the Code under which the 

councillor was operating at the time of the alleged misconduct. 

If the complaint fails one or more of these tests it cannot be investigated as a 
breach of the Code, and the complainant must be informed that no further action 
will be taken in respect of the complaint. If there is any doubt, however, the 
allegation should proceed to the second stage. For example, if it is unclear whether 
the councillor was acting ‘in capacity’ or not then the second stage of assessment 
criteria should be used. 

Where a matter is being referred to a committee of councillors for assessment, we 
would expect the monitoring officer only to pass cases which have met the 
jurisdictional threshold. 

Second-stage criteria 

Once these jurisdictional tests have been met the authority should have further 
criteria against which it assesses complaints and decides what action, if any, to 
take. These criteria should reflect local circumstances and priorities and be simple, 
clear and open. They should ensure fairness for both the complainant and the 
subject member. 

Assessing all complaints by established criteria will also protect the authority from 
accusations of bias. Assessment criteria can be reviewed and amended as 
necessary, but this should not be done during consideration of a matter. 

In drawing up assessment criteria, authorities should bear in mind the importance 
of ensuring that complainants are confident that complaints about councillor 
conduct are taken seriously and dealt with appropriately. They should also consider 
that deciding to investigate a complaint or to take other action will cost both public 
money and the officers’ and councillors’ time. This is an important consideration 
where the matter is relatively minor. 

Page 56



The following non-exclusive factors may help an authority to develop local 
criteria: 

1. Does the complaint contain sufficient evidence to demonstrate a potential 
breach of the Code? 

2. Are there alternative, more appropriate, remedies that should be explored 
first? 

3. Where the complaint is by one councillor against another, a greater 
allowance for robust political debate (but not personal abuse) may be given, 
bearing in mind the right to freedom of expression; 

4. Is the complaint in the view of the authority malicious, politically motivated, 
or ‘tit for tat’ 

5. Whether an investigation would not be in the public interest or the matter, 
even if proven, would not be serious enough to warrant any sanction (see 
guidance on hearings); 

6. Whether a substantially similar complaint has previously been considered 
and no new material evidence has been submitted within the current 
administration; 

7. Whether a substantially similar complaint has been submitted and accepted; 
8. Does the complaint relate to conduct in the distant past? This would include 

consideration or any reason why there had been a delay in making the 
complaint; 

9. Was the behaviour that is the subject of the complaint already dealt with? 
For example, through an apology at the relevant meeting; 

10. Does the complaint actually relate to dissatisfaction with a local authority 
decision rather than the specific conduct of an individual? And 

11. Is it about someone who is no longer a councillor or who is seriously ill? 

Some of these criteria are inevitably subjective. For example, who decides if a 
complaint is trivial? The complainant may feel they have a genuine grievance even 
if to a third party it seems relatively minor. 

Equally even if a complaint seems to be ‘politically motivated’ it may nevertheless 
be highlighting a potentially significant breach of the Code which could not be 
ignored. 

Such criteria can therefore only ever be indicative, and authorities always need to 
take into account the public interest in taking further action on a complaint. 
Assessment criteria should be adopted which take this into account so that 
authorities can be seen to be treating all complaints in a fair and balanced way. 

In assessing any case, an authority may want to consider the following questions in 
the context of local knowledge and experience: 

Page 57



Has the complainant submitted enough information to satisfy the authority that the 
complaint should be referred for investigation or other action? 

If the answer is no, it should be made clear to the complainant that there is 
insufficient evidence to make a decision so unless, or until, further information is 
received, the authority will take no further action on the complaint. When doing so, 
the complainant should be given a clear timeline to submit any further evidence or 
otherwise the file will be closed. 

Is the complaint about someone who is no longer a councillor? 

The councillor may have been a councillor at the time of the alleged misconduct 
but may have since ceased to be a councillor. The authority will need to consider 
whether it still has jurisdiction. If so, then the authority may not want to take any 
further action unless they believe the matter is so serious, and the councillor may 
return to the authority that it would still be in the public interest to pursue the 
matter. If they do pursue the matter the range of potential sanctions is inevitably 
more limited and may extend only to publication of the report and a formal 
censure. 

If the councillor is still a member of another principal authority, the authority may 
wish to refer the complaint to that authority if it would also fall within their code of 
conduct. 

If a councillor is still a member of a town or parish council within the principal 
authority’s area, then the principal authority can still deal with the matter if it 
relates to matters at the town or parish council. 

Is the complaint about something that happened so long ago that there would 
be little benefit in taking action now? 

Where a matter happened some time ago then the authority may decide that any 
further action would be unwarranted. For example, an investigation may be 
difficult as people’s recollections may have faded. The authority may therefore 
wish to set a time limit for receiving complaints of say six months under normal 
circumstances. However, it should also be borne in mind that there may be a good 
reason why a complaint is ‘late’ – for example, victims of bullying or harassment 
may have needed time and courage before coming forward or been made aware of 
other incidents which has prompted them to make a complaint about things in the 
past. 

Does the complaint appear to be trivial, malicious, politically motivated or tit-
for-tat? 

Page 58



Where a complaint is rejected on these grounds the authority should be very clear 
about the reasons why and discourage politically motivated or tit-for-tat complaints 
in particular. It will, however, need to satisfy itself that, regardless of any alleged 
motive of the complainant, the complaint itself is not sufficiently serious to warrant 
any further action regardless of the motive. A complaint may appear on the face of 
it to be politically motivated, for example, because of the timing of its submission, 
but if it raises sufficiently serious matters it would nevertheless need to be 
considered fully. 

The assessment criteria that the authority adopts should be made publicly available 
on its website. 

Decision 

Initial assessment decisions 

Where the decision has been delegated to an officer, the authority should aim to 
complete their initial assessment of an allegation within 15 working days of 
receiving a complaint. Where they have asked the subject member for comment, 
they should allow them up to 10 working days to comment and then make the 
assessment normally within five working days of any comments being received. 

Where the subject member has not commented, and the ten working days has 
elapsed (and they have not provided a reasonable excuse for the delay) the 
assessment should nevertheless be made within five working days after that. 

Where an Independent Person is invited to give their views prior to assessment 
these should be done at least a day before the final deadline. Where the 
Independent Person meets in person with the officer to discuss the case, they 
should nevertheless record their views in writing for the record after the meeting. 

Where the assessment is sent to a committee, the committee should be set up along 
similar timescales. Any inordinate delay in assessing cases can have a damaging 
effect on trust in the system and is unfair for both the complainant and subject 
member. 

The authority may reach one of the three following decisions on an allegation: 

• no further action should be taken on the allegation; 
• the matter should be dealt with through a process of informal resolution in 

the first instance (see section on informal resolution) or; 
• the matter should be referred for a formal investigation (see section on 

investigations). 

Page 59



Decision to take no action 

The authority may decide that no further action is required in respect of a 
complaint based on its agreed criteria. 

Where the authority reaches this decision it should be clear that, where an 
allegation may have disclosed a potential breach of the Code it has nevertheless 
made no finding of fact as it does not believe it is in the public interest to pursue 
the matter any further, Where it has been concluded that no potential breach of the 
Code of Conduct is disclosed by the complaint (for example because it is outside 
of jurisdiction), no further formal action can be taken by the authority in respect of 
it. 

There should be no right of appeal against a decision not to take any further action 
if the system is to be efficient and proportionate. 

Where the decision was taken by an officer, the monitoring officer may wish to 
report to the relevant committee periodically on cases in which there has been no 
further action taken. These cases should be reported confidentially with the aim of 
giving the committee a picture of issues within the authority and enabling it to 
assure itself that decisions made have been broadly reasonable in the whole. They 
are not there to re-open issues. 

Referral for informal resolution 

When the authority decides that they should seek to resolve the matter informally 
in the first instance they should refer to the separate guidance on informal 
resolution. 

Referral for investigation 

When the authority decides a matter should be referred for investigation it should 
refer to the separate guidance on investigations. 

Notification of assessment decisions 

If the authority decides to take no action over a complaint, then as soon as possible 
after making the decision they should notify the complainant and subject member 
of the decision and set out clearly the reasons for that decision, including the views 
of the independent person. 

If the authority decides that the complaint should be referred for formal 
investigation or informal resolution, they should notify the complainant and subject 
member, stating what the allegation was and what further action is being taken. 

Page 60



In such cases the authority will need to decide whether or not to give the subject 
member a copy of the full complaint and whether the complainant, where they had 
been granted confidentiality, should remain confidential for the time being. In 
doing so they would need to decide whether doing so would be against the public 
interest or would prejudice any future investigation. This could happen where it is 
considered likely that the subject member may intimidate the complainant, or any 
witnesses involved. It could also happen where early disclosure of the complaint 
may lead to evidence being compromised or destroyed. If only one part of a 
complaint has been referred for action or the complaint is against more than one 
councillor then the authority may wish only to disclose the relevant parts of the 
complaint. Any decision to withhold information should be kept under review as 
circumstances change. 

If the subject member is a parish or town councillor and the authority has decided 
to take some action with regard to the complaint, their parish or town council 
should also be notified via the clerk. In doing so the authority will need to consider 
whether any of the information is confidential. 

A decision notice should be issued within one working day of the decision being 
made. 

Independent Person 

If the views of the Independent Person were sought, this should be made clear in 
the decision letter and state whether the Independent Person agreed with the 
decision or not. Where the Independent Person did not agree with the decision, the 
notification should explain how the authority took account of those views in 
reaching a different decision – for example in concluding that the matter was not in 
fact within the scope of the Code but was a private matter. 

Other issues to consider 

Assessments Committee 

Where a committee is convened to assess an allegation, it is an ordinary committee 
of the authority if it is making the decision. This means it must reflect political 
proportionality unless that has been waived and it is subject to the notice and 
publicity requirements under Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 

However, while there should be a presumption that a hearing following an 
investigation would normally be held in public (see guidance on hearings) there 
will be a strong presumption towards an assessment being treated as exempt 
information. The meeting may have to consider unfounded and potentially 
damaging complaints about councillors, which it would not be appropriate to make 

Page 61



public because of the risk of unfounded reputational damage or the potential risk of 
prejudicing any future investigation. 

Nevertheless, as for any meeting dealing with exempt or confidential information a 
summary of the outcome would need to be published setting out the main points 
considered such as: 

• the conclusions on the complaint; 
• the reasons for the conclusion. 

Assessments delegated to officers 

Where an assessment decision has been delegated to an officer there is no 
legislative requirement for a decision notice to be published. Nevertheless, the 
authority should consider whether an assessment notice should be published in the 
public interest or not in the same way as they would if it were a committee 
decision. 

What if the subject member is member of more than one authority? 

There may be times when the same complaint is made against a member of more 
than one authority. For example, an allegation may allege that a councillor has 
failed to register an interest at both district and county level. 

In such a case the two authorities should have an agreement about who would 
carry out the initial assessment (if necessary, under an agreed delegation) and any 
subsequent action. This avoids the risk of two different actions or conclusions 
being reached. 

The matter would not arise where the councillor was on a town or parish council 
and also on the ‘principal’ district, unitary or metropolitan council as the principal 
authority is responsible for handling both complaints. It could however arise if the 
parish or town councillor were also on the county council in a two-tier area. 

3. Informal resolution 

When dealing with allegations, an authority can decide that some form of action 
other than investigation or ‘informal resolution’ is needed at a local level. The 
authority may also decide that informal resolution may be more appropriate than 
referring a matter to a hearing following completion of an investigation. Where the 
authority has delegated such a decision to the monitoring officer, we would expect 
the monitoring officer to seek the views of an Independent Person before taking 
such a course of action. Where the delegation is held by a committee, we would 
expect the committee to consult its monitoring officer and an Independent Person 
before reaching that decision. You may also consider seeking an informal 

Page 62



resolution part way through an investigation rather than completing an 
investigation if it becomes clear the matter could be resolved amicably. Where 
informal resolution relates to a formal investigation you must seek the views of an 
Independent Person before halting or pausing the formal investigation. 

Why seek an informal resolution? 

An informal resolution is a more proportionate way of dealing with relatively 
minor allegations, one-off incidents or underlying disagreements between 
individuals. It should be borne in mind however that dealing with a matter by 
alternative resolution at the initial assessment stage is making no finding of fact as 
there has been no formal investigation, so you would need to balance the interest in 
resolving a matter quickly and satisfactorily against the interest in the complainant 
having their complaint upheld or the member’s desire to clear their name. 

Matters which you might consider appropriate for informal resolution may include: 

• the same particular breach of the Code by many members, indicating poor 
understanding of the Code and the authority’s procedures; 

• a general breakdown of relationships, including those between members and 
officers, as evidenced by a pattern of allegations of minor disrespect, 
harassment or bullying to such an extent that it becomes difficult to conduct 
the business of the authority; 

• misunderstanding of procedures or protocols; 
• misleading, unclear or misunderstood advice from officers; 
• lack of experience or training; 
• interpersonal conflict; 
• allegations and retaliatory allegations from the same members; 
• allegations about how formal meetings are conducted; 
• allegations that may be symptomatic of governance problems within the 

authority, which are more significant than the allegations in themselves. 

When would informal resolution not be appropriate? 

Complaints should not be referred for informal resolution when you believe an 
investigation is in the public interest, for example because of the seriousness of the 
allegations or because it demonstrates a pattern of behaviour. In addition, an 
allegation which challenges the councillor’s honesty or integrity may be better 
dealt with as a formal investigation because of the potential reputational issues. 

Similarly, an informal resolution is not intended to be a quick and easy means of 
dealing with matters which you consider to be too trivial or time-consuming to 
investigate. Genuinely trivial cases are better dealt with by a decision to take no 
action (see guidance on initial assessments). While an alternative resolution can be 

Page 63



a cost-effective way of getting a matter resolved for individual cases, it is not a 
quick fix particularly where there are more systemic issues. It should not be seen as 
a routine or cheap way of disposing of an allegation, as it can sometimes be a 
drawn out, costly and time- consuming process. 

You should also take care to avoid it appearing to the complainant that deciding to 
seek an alternative resolution is sweeping matters under the carpet. The decision 
should demonstrate to the complainant that their complaint is being addressed and 
being taken seriously, although perhaps as part of a wider issue. 

Importantly, if a complaint merits being investigated, then it should be referred for 
investigation. 

Who can be the subject of informal resolution? 

Informal resolution could either be directed at the councillor who is the subject of 
the complaint, both the subject member and the complainant, or at the authority 
more generally. 

For example, it may be a request that a councillor apologise for remarks made in 
the heat of the moment. Or you may decide that the authority’s resources are better 
used trying to ensure that the subject member and complainant attempt some form 
of mediation or reconciliation, or it may be about wider issues for your authority 
that are raised by the case. For example, a relatively minor alleged infringement of 
the Code, by a councillor who is accused of misusing their authority’s IT 
equipment, might identify shortcomings in the authority’s policy about councillors 
using that equipment. In such a case you might decide that the best way to deal 
with the allegation is to ask the authority to review the policy and make 
recommendations for improvement. 

If you decide to seek an informal resolution when assessing a complaint, you 
should be clear that an investigation into that complaint will not take place 
provided you are satisfied that the party at whom the resolution is directed has 
acted in good faith in seeking to comply with it. 

Who should you inform if seeking informal resolution? 

If you believe a complaint can be dealt with through informal resolution you 
should consult with the Independent Person and you should inform the subject 
member and the complainant of your intention and give them the opportunity to 
comment before you make your final decision. However, you should simply be 
trying to assess how successful the resolution might be rather than giving them a 
veto. For example, a complainant may not be happy at receiving an apology as 
they may expect the matter to be fully investigated but you may nevertheless 
decide that an apology is reasonable and best use of resources in the circumstances. 

Page 64



When informal resolution has been completed you should notify: 

• the subject member; 
• the complainant; 
• the relevant Independent Person;   
• the relevant town or parish council if the subject member is a town or parish 

councillor. 

In addition, you should report back to the standards committee or similar where 
you have one at the next available opportunity on the outcome of your actions. 
This would allow the committee to take a holistic view of whether informal 
resolution is being used appropriately and effectively in the round but should not 
be seen as an opportunity to re-open the case. 

What sort of actions might form an alternative resolution? 

Alternative resolution can take a wide range of forms. When considering an 
alternative resolution, you need to think if the complaint highlights specific issues. 
For example, if it is against a relatively new councillor, a councillor who has taken 
on a new role or to do with relatively new procedures is there an issue about lack 
of understanding or training? 

Training may be in anything you consider appropriate, such as: 

• the Code of Conduct 
• authority procedures and protocols 
• chairing skills 
• working with external bodies 
• wider governance issues 
• planning and licensing 
• working with officers 
• use of authority resources. 

Where the issue is more of an inter-personal dispute it may simply be asking the 
subject member to apologise or to withdraw a remark. You may need to be clear 
that this does not necessarily mean that the councillor has been found to have 
breached the Code of Conduct where there has been no formal investigation. It is 
therefore important where you decide on this course at initial assessment that the 
action proposed does not imply this. You cannot require the subject member to 
apologise although you may take that into consideration when thinking of the next 
steps. Of course, in those cases where the councillor has admitted the breach and 
offered an acceptable apology, you may decide that no further action is necessary. 

Page 65



Where the allegation highlights wider procedure or cultural issues within the 
authority, you may wish to consider training for all councillors as a whole or 
mentoring of particular councillors, or work as an authority on conflict resolution. 

You may also decide that the allegation highlights authority procedural failings 
rather than the specific fault of an individual so you may want to develop or review 
particular authority protocols and procedures. 

Where the allegation is one of a series which in your view highlight that 
relationships within an authority as a whole have broken down to such an extent 
that it has become very difficult to conduct the business of the authority then some 
wider form of reconciliation may be needed rather than simply investigating a 
whole series of complaints which may of themselves be relatively minor but 
highlight a pattern of disruption or dysfunction. In such cases it may be helpful to 
engage an independent mediator who is experienced in group community 
resolution. Mediation is a formal professional process designed to reach agreed 
outcomes. Less formal mechanisms may also be used to work with the authority to 
draw up an action plan to move matters forward and again these are often best 
done by somebody independent. 

In such cases it is particularly important that all parties should understand that a 
decision to seek an informal resolution without investigating the individual 
complaints means that no conclusion has been reached about what happened. 
Furthermore, no decision has been made about whether the subject member(s) 
failed to comply with the Code. Everyone involved should understand that the 
purpose of such action is not to find out whether the councillor breached the Code 
of Conduct but rather to address the underlying causes. This is regardless of how 
simple it may be to establish the facts. 

Where a committee is considering an alternative resolution, it should always 
consult the monitoring officer. The monitoring officer may be able to advise the 
committee how viable the proposed resolution is, by providing information on the 
resources available to them. They may be able to tell the committee how much any 
proposed resolution might cost and whether, for example, the authority has access 
to the facilities or resources needed to accomplish it, such as qualified mediators. 

Where the matters involve the town or parish council the principal authority cannot 
compel the town or parish council to meet the costs, but it may discuss with them 
the implications that other town and parish councils have experienced when they 
have failed to take action at an early stage. These have included officer and 
councillor resignations, community disharmony, national level publicity and 
reputational damage, staff grievances and settlement costs, excessive Freedom of 
Information Act (FoIA) and Data Subject Access requests, additional external audit 
inspections and fees and legal challenges and costs. 

Page 66



In considering such issues it is incumbent on the town or parish council to 
recognise there will be a need to invest in resolutions to the issues and it may be 
that where they are unwilling to seek to resolve the issues they face, the principal 
authority may take that into account when assessing future complaints. 

Role of the monitoring officer 

Role of the monitoring officer 

When a matter has been referred for alternative resolution, you should inform the 
relevant parties (see above). You should take care over how the decision is 
conveyed. It is important that the wording does not imply that the councillor is 
culpable where there has been no formal investigation. It is also important that 
councillors do not feel they have been found guilty without an investigation of the 
allegation. Above all avoid the risk that both parties could end up potentially 
feeling dissatisfied. 

You should set a time limit by which the action must be taken and make it clear 
what will happen if it is not undertaken, or not undertaken to your satisfaction. If, 
within that time limit, you are satisfied with the outcome you should notify the 
relevant parties. The matter is then closed. 

If you are not satisfied within the timescales, you must then notify the relevant 
parties of whether the matter is nevertheless now closed or whether you intend to 
take further action. In doing so you should consult with the relevant Independent 
Person. 

You should report any outcomes to your standards committee. 

What are the next steps if the informal resolution does not 
work? 

In certain cases, you may decide that no further action is required. For example, if 
the subject member has made what you consider to be a reasonable apology or has 
attended the training, then there is little merit in pursuing the issue even if the 
complainant may remain dissatisfied. An investigation should not be viewed as 
something that can take place after an alternative resolution has been attempted 
and is simply not to the satisfaction of the complainant. There is a risk otherwise 
that alternative resolution will not be taken seriously, and the complainant will not 
cooperate if it is seen merely as a precursor to an investigation. 

On the other hand, where a subject member has categorically refused to comply 
with the proposed resolution, has failed to cooperate or has taken action you 
consider inadequate then you should consider whether a formal investigation is 

Page 67



needed, or where the resolution has been proposed during or at the end of a formal 
investigation, whether the matter should be referred for a hearing. Bear in mind 
that deliberate and continued failure to cooperate with a monitoring officer who is 
trying to deal with a standards issue may amount to a breach of the Model Code. In 
deciding on next steps, you should always bear in mind the public interest and your 
agreed criteria for considering whether a matter needs further investigation. 

4. Investigations 

Introduction and background 

This guidance deals with good practice where it has been decided that an allegation 
that the Code of Conduct may have been breached merits a formal investigation. 

The Localism Act does not specify how an investigation should be carried out or 
by whom but simply asks principal authorities to have arrangements in place to 
handle allegations that the Code may have been broken. In practice we would 
expect authorities to delegate the day-to-day handling of a formal investigation to 
their monitoring officer. Monitoring officers are at the heart of the standards 
framework. They promote, educate and support councillors in following the 
highest standards of conduct and ensuring that those standards are fully owned 
locally. 

Principles of investigation 

While an investigation under the Localism Act 2011 is not covered by the right to a 
fair hearing under Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights as the 
outcome of any hearing will not impact upon the rights of the councillor to carry 
on the role as a councillor, any investigation must nevertheless abide by the 
principles of natural justice (R (Greenslade) v Devon County Council 2019). That 
means that the councillor must know what they are accused of and be given the 
opportunity to comment on the allegations. 

Any investigation should therefore bear in mind some key principles: 

• Proportionality. That is, the investigation should strive to be proportionate to 
the seriousness or complexity of the matter under investigation. Where a 
matter is straightforward or relatively simple, for example where the facts 
are not in dispute, there may be no need for any formal investigation, but a 
report can simply be written up (see attached table). Equally not all of the 
steps in this guidance need be followed in every instance of a formal 
investigation – a judgment must be made in each case based on its 
complexity and contentiousness. 

Page 68



• Fairness. The investigation should make sure that the subject member knows 
what they are accused of and has an opportunity to make comments on the 
investigation, including on a draft report. Again, this may depend on the 
nature of the complaint – for example, an alleged failure to declare an 
interest may be largely a factual matter which needs little or no investigation 
rather than one that needs to involve evidence from other parties. A 
councillor quickly admitting to an error may not need further detail to be 
probed. 

• Transparency. As far as is practical and having regard to an individual’s 
right to confidentiality, investigations should be carried out as transparently 
as possible – all parties should be kept up to date with progress in the case. 

• Impartiality. An investigator should not approach an investigation with pre-
conceived ideas and should avoid being involved where they have a conflict 
of interest. 

Managing conflicts of interest 

A first consideration when deciding how an investigation is to be handled will be 
to see whether any conflicts of interest arise for you. As monitoring officer, you 
may have taken the decision that an allegation needs a formal investigation. It 
would not be a conflict of interest if you yourself then undertook that investigation. 
You have simply decided in the first instance that there is on the face of it a case to 
answer but have made no judgment. An investigation is to then establish what 
exactly did happen and if it does in fact amount to a breach of the code. So, there is 
no conflict in deciding that a matter needs investigating and then carrying out that 
investigation yourself. 

However, there may be other areas where a potential conflict of interest could 
arise. For example: 

• If you were asked to investigate an allegation against a councillor and you 
had advised them on the same issue previously, regardless of whether or not 
they had followed your advice; 

• If you have been involved in assisting the complainant in formulating their 
allegation (Her Majesty's Advocate v Alexander Elliot Anderson Salmond) 

• If you were the complainant or a potential key witness to the incident. In 
such situations, you should delegate the investigation to somebody else (see 
section on delegation of investigations); 

• Where you have tried unsuccessfully to resolve a complaint informally, for 
example where one of the parties has refused to cooperate or refused to 
accept an apology (see guidance on informal resolution). In such a case 
there may be a perception that you have already made some judgment in the 
matters at hand. 

• If you find that you have a direct or indirect interest in an investigation, for 
example if a family member or friend is involved. Instead, you should notify 

Page 69



the subject member and the complainant so that the conflict is on the record, 
explaining that you will not take any part in the investigation, the reason 
why and who will carry out the investigation in your place. 

Also bear in mind that if you do the investigation personally a conflict may arise 
later in the process if the matter goes to a hearing, and you are asked to act as 
adviser to the hearing. You may therefore wish to consider at the start of an 
investigation whether you would want to ask someone else to carry out the 
investigation if you think you would be better supporting any hearing panel (see 
guidance on holding a hearing). We believe that you should not conduct an 
investigation and advise a hearing about the same case. You therefore need to 
consider whether it is more important to investigate the matter and delegate the 
role of advising a potential hearing, or to delegate the investigative role. 

Delegation of investigations 

Monitoring officers can delegate investigations to their deputy or to any other 
named individual. However, if they do, monitoring officers should maintain the 
function of overseeing the investigation unless they are conflicted out – see section 
on conflicts of interest – in which case they should make arrangements for another 
suitable person to oversee the investigation. 

Under Section 5(1)(b) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, local 
authorities must provide you with sufficient resources to perform your duties. In 
many authorities, monitoring officers will be able to appoint another officer to 
carry out their investigation. Smaller authorities may find it useful to make 
reciprocal arrangements with neighbouring authorities where they do not already 
exist formally. This is to make sure that an experienced officer is available to carry 
out an investigation or supervise it, should the need arise. 

Authorities may also decide to outsource the investigation to another organisation 
or individual. This can be particularly helpful if it is a complex investigation which 
may absorb an individual’s time or where it is politically high-profile or 
contentious or where there are possible conflicts of interest and it is therefore 
helpful to have somebody independent from the authority carrying out the 
investigation. You may wish to agree a decision to outsource an investigation with 
an Independent Person. 

Where you delegate the investigation, you should record the scope of the 
delegation in writing and keep this on the investigation file. This is to ensure that 
there is no confusion concerning the role and authority of the person delegated to 
conduct the investigation. You should be particularly clear about who is 
responsible for writing the draft and final reports. You should also have agreed 
timelines for delivery of the report. Where it is likely that this initial timeline 
cannot be met, for example because of unavailability of people for interviews or 

Page 70



because further issues emerge, you should have a mechanism to agree and record 
any extension and again you may wish to consult with the Independent Person. 

If you intend to advise a hearing panel should the matter go for a hearing, you 
should avoid being involved in the preparation of the investigation report. 
However, you may want to be able to reserve the right to decide when the report is 
of an acceptable quality to be put to the hearing and, if the recommendation from 
the investigator is that there is no breach of the Code you should be clear about 
who signs off that report and decides on no further action. We recommend that the 
views of the Independent Person are also sought where no further action is being 
taken. 

You should inform the relevant parties when you delegate an investigation or make 
sure that the investigator has done this, so that they know who is dealing with the 
case and in case they need to provide the investigator with more information. 

Disclosure of information 

You must treat any information you receive during the course of an investigation 
as confidential to the investigative process until the investigation is completed 
unless there is a statutory requirement to disclose it, for example when there are 
parallel criminal investigations being undertaken. Similarly, all parties involved in 
the conducting of the investigation should be advised of the confidential nature of 
the proceedings. 

Starting an investigation 

When you decide to start a formal investigation or receive instructions to carry out 
an investigation, be clear what it is you are investigating. If the initial complaint 
had made several different allegations be clear whether you are investigating them 
all or only part of the allegations. You should also be clear which parts of the Code 
you are investigating against although you may decide to include other or different 
provisions during the investigation as it develops. 

Having established the scope of the investigation you should inform: 

• the subject member; 
• the complainant; 
• the relevant Independent Person and 
• the relevant town or parish council if the subject member is a town or parish 

councillor. 

We would suggest that the notice sent to the town or parish council is sent to the 
parish clerk, unless sending it to the chair of the council is more appropriate 
because of the parish clerk’s involvement in the complaint (or deputy chair if the 

Page 71



chair is the subject member). You may wish to set out what action you consider the 
town or parish council should take (if any) with regards the complaint and 
requirements related to confidentiality given that town or parish council standing 
orders may require the clerk to report the complaint to the council. 

You should explain to all parties what it is you are investigating and what will 
happen next. You should also inform the subject member that they have the right to 
seek the views of the Independent Person and be represented at any interviews with 
the investigator. 

Conducting the investigation 

You must always be aware of your obligations under the Data Protection Act 2018, 
UK General Data Protection Regulations the Human Rights Act 1998 and other 
relevant legislation, when carrying out an investigation. 

When conducting an investigation, you should be able to make inquiries of any 
person you think necessary. However, there is no obligation for them to respond. If 
you have difficulties obtaining a response, or a person refuses to cooperate with the 
investigation you should not let this delay the investigation but make sure that is 
clear in any report you write. 

By law, a monitoring officer can require their authority to provide them with any 
advice or assistance they need to help them with their duties. However, you cannot 
require a parish or town council to meet the costs of any investigation into a parish 
or town councillor or any costs incurred by the parish or town council in providing 
advice and assistance with the investigation. 

Evidence of new breaches 

During the course of an investigation, you may uncover evidence of conduct by 
councillors that breaches the Code of Conduct but extends beyond the scope of the 
investigation referred to you. Your powers as an investigator relate only to the 
allegation that you have been given. While that means you may consider other 
parts of the Code than those initially considered if they are relevant to the matter in 
hand, you may also uncover evidence of a possible breach that does not directly 
relate to the allegation you are investigating. If this happens, you should tell the 
person you obtained the information from that you cannot investigate the possible 
breach as part of your existing investigation. You should tell them that they may 
wish to make a separate complaint to the authority and if the authority considers it 
needs further action it could be subsequently added to your investigation or dealt 
with as a separate matter. 

Alternatively, if the matters are serious issues in your view, you may wish to refer 
the matters to the authority yourself as a new complaint for them to make an initial 

Page 72



assessment on through their scheme of delegation. If you hold that delegation (for 
example as monitoring officer) you may wish to ask someone else to take a view 
on whether the investigation should be extended. 

Referring cases back to the authority 

During the course of an investigation, it may be necessary to reappraise if an 
investigation remains the right course of action, for example, if: 

• You believe that evidence is uncovered suggesting a case is less serious than 
may have seemed apparent to the authority originally and that a different 
decision might therefore have been made about whether to investigate it or 
not; 

• You conclude after examining the matter in detail that in fact the matters 
under investigation were not done by the subject member in their role as a 
councillor or as a representative of the authority but rather in a private 
capacity; 

• You have uncovered something which is potentially more serious and the 
authority may want to consider referring it to the police, for example; 

• The subject member has died, is seriously ill or has resigned from the 
authority and you are of the opinion that it is no longer appropriate to 
continue with the investigation; 

• The subject member has indicated that they wish to make a formal apology 
which you consider should draw a line under the matter. 

In this context ‘seriously ill’ means that the councillor has a medical condition 
which would prevent them from engaging with the process of an investigation or a 
hearing for the foreseeable future. This might be a terminal illness or a 
degenerative condition. You would be expected to establish this from a reliable 
independent and authoritative source other than the subject member. This would 
include where a councillor claims they are suffering from stress brought on by the 
investigation. 

Ultimately it will be for the monitoring officer (or as otherwise defined in the 
authority’s procedures for handling complaints) to conclude whether the 
investigation should continue. In reaching that decision, the authority should 
consult with the Independent Person before deciding to defer or end the 
investigation. 

If the matter has been deferred or ended you should notify the subject member and 
the complainant of the decision and provide timescales within which the matter 
will be dealt with if it has been deferred. This would not always be appropriate, 
however, particularly if the matter has been referred to the police. 

Page 73



Deferring an investigation 

An investigation should be deferred when any of the following conditions are met: 

• There are ongoing criminal proceedings or a police investigation into the 
councillor’s conduct; 

• You cannot proceed with your investigation without investigating similar 
alleged conduct or needing to come to conclusions of fact about events 
which are also the subject of some other investigation or court proceeding; 

• Your investigation might prejudice another investigation or court 
proceeding. 

An investigation may also need to be deferred: 

• when there is an ongoing investigation by another regulatory body; 
• because of the serious illness of a key party; 
• due to the genuine unavailability of a key party. 

When it is clear that there is an ongoing police, or other investigation, or related 
court proceedings, you should make enquiries about the nature of the police, or 
other investigation, or the nature of any court proceedings. It may be helpful to 
have an agreed Protocol with the local police about handling overlapping cases as 
the police may want you to carry on your investigation in the first instance. 

If at any time during the investigation you become aware of any circumstances that 
might require the investigation to be deferred, you should normally notify the 
subject member of this but again you would need to be careful where there are 
other proceedings ongoing. If you are not the monitoring officer, you should notify 
the monitoring officer and seek their consent to the deferral. You or the monitoring 
officer may also wish to consult with the Independent Person. 

The decision to defer an investigation should be taken by the monitoring officer. If 
you have asked someone else to carry out the investigation, they will need to 
gather sufficient information from the complainant, subject member, and from the 
police or other organisation involved, to enable you, as the monitoring officer, to 
come to a decision. You may wish to seek legal advice at this stage. The reason for 
the decision to defer should be specifically set out in the investigation file with 
supporting documentation attached. 

In some cases, it will be possible to investigate some of the alleged conduct, where 
there is no overlap with another investigation or court proceedings. The 
investigator should highlight those areas where investigation may be possible in 
the investigation plan. 

Page 74



In some cases, it will be possible to investigate the alleged conduct in parallel with 
another investigation, for example where the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman is investigating an authority’s decisions and you are investigating the 
conduct of an individual councillor involved in making the decision. You may 
need to work closely with the other organisation and agree the steps that each party 
will take. 

You should ask the police, other relevant organisation or individual in writing to 
keep you informed of the outcome of any police or other investigation, court 
proceedings or other relevant matter. You should note any important dates, for 
example of committal hearings, in the investigation plan review. In addition, you 
may wish to make further contact with the police, other body or individual to ask 
for an update on the matter. 

A deferred investigation should be kept under regular review, in the interests of 
natural justice. You may wish to seek legal advice at regular intervals, for example 
every three months, from the date of the deferral decision about the reasonableness 
of continued deferral. 

Once a decision is taken to begin the investigation again you should notify in 
writing: 

• the subject member; 
• the complainant; 
• the relevant Independent Person; and 
• the relevant town or parish council if the subject member is a town or parish 

councillor. 

You should also review the investigation plan in light of the outcome of any police 
investigation or court proceedings. 

Confidentiality 

You should treat the information that you gather during your investigation as 
confidential. This will help ensure that your investigation is seen as fair. 
Maintaining confidentiality reduces the risk of evidence being viewed as biased 
and preserves the integrity of the investigation. 

We recommend that you also ask the people you interview, and anyone else aware 
of the investigation, to maintain confidentiality. You should remind councillors of 
their obligations under the Code of Conduct regarding the disclosure of 
information that they receive in confidence. 

Members of the public are not covered by the Code of Conduct. A person making 
an allegation about a councillor is under no responsibility to the subject member to 

Page 75



keep that complaint confidential, but if they do decide to publish the complaint and 
it is untrue then the complainant may well expose themselves to an action for 
defamation. 

When the complaint has been received by the authority, the authority is then a data 
controller in respect of the personal data contained within the complaint and also a 
body subject to the FoIA. 

Were the authority to receive a subject access request (SAR) from the subject 
member, then the response is likely to be that the complaint will be disclosed to the 
subject member anyway for comment. Schedule 2 s.7 of the Data Protection Act 
2018(DPA) includes an exemption from DPA rights where the function is designed 
to protect members of the public against dishonesty, malpractice or seriously 
improper conduct and the function is of a public nature. Local authority 
investigations are likely to fall under this scope and therefore relevant articles of 
the UK GDPR including subject access (article 15) do not apply. 

There is of course an exemption against disclosure of third-party personal data, but 
the complainant can be assumed to have agreed to the processing of their own 
personal data. Some thought needs to be given as to whether other third-party data 
needs to be redacted, but sufficient information does need to be provided to the 
subject member to allow them to comment on the complaint. 

If a request for information about the complaint was received under the FoIA from 
a third party, then there would be clear grounds for refusing that request during an 
ongoing investigation.  

If you receive a request from a journalist for example, who is asking if a councillor 
is under investigation for a specific issue, it would be reasonable to confirm or 
deny the fact but explain that no further comment can be made until the 
investigative process is complete. 

Any draft report that you issue on the outcome of the investigation should be 
marked as confidential. This is to preserve the integrity of any further investigation 
that you may need to undertake. 

Timescales for an investigation 

There are many factors that can affect the time it takes to complete an 
investigation. Nevertheless, it is important that there are realistic targets from the 
outset for the completion of an investigation. This allows the monitoring officer to 
monitor the progress of investigations and explore reasons for any delays where 
they have delegated the investigation. We recommend that most investigations are 
carried out, and a report on the investigation completed, within a maximum of six 
months of the original complaint being referred for an investigation. 

Page 76



This will not always be possible, particularly where there is overlapping 
jurisdiction or you are waiting for a key piece of evidence from an external body 
but if it is to take longer than that, specific permission should be discussed between 
the monitoring officer and the Independent Person, and a note made as to the 
reasons why. 

Refusal by the subject member or other relevant party to cooperate, for example by 
not making themselves available for an interview without good reason, should not 
be a reason for delay but should be reflected in the report. If the subject member 
refuses to cooperate that of itself is a potential breach of the Model Code and may 
be something that any decision maker in a case may want to take account of. 

Draft reports 

The investigator should produce a draft report. If they are not the monitoring 
officer, they should share the draft initially with the monitoring officer and the 
independent person so that they can satisfy themselves that the investigation is of 
an acceptable standard and met the scope of the complaint. Once the monitoring 
officer is satisfied, the draft report should then be sent to the relevant parties with a 
deadline for commenting. 

Where criticism is made of a third party (for example a witness) who will not 
otherwise have an opportunity to comment on a draft report then a Maxwellisation 
process (Maxwellisation is the process by which people who may be subject to 
criticism in public reports can comment on those proposed criticisms before the 
report is published) should be followed before a draft report is completed. 

You are under no obligations to accept any comments made but where you do not 
accept comments you should make a note explaining why. Exceptionally you may 
need to issue a second draft if there have been significant changes. 

Completion of an investigation 

On completion of an investigation, the monitoring officer may decide: 

• to take no further action; 
• to seek to resolve the matter informally; or 
• to refer the matter to a hearing if it is part of the authority’s procedures to 

refer the matter to a separate hearing by a panel or standards committee (see 
guidance on hearings). 

In doing so the monitoring officer must consult with the relevant Independent 
Person. 

Page 77



In general, the investigation should be regarded as completed when the monitoring 
officer receives the final report and accepts that no further investigation is 
necessary. 

Purpose of the report 

The report should be treated as an explanation of all the essential elements of the 
case and a justification for why you have concluded there has been a breach or not. 
The report should cover: 

• agreed facts; 
• any disputed facts together with your view, if appropriate, as to which 

version is more likely; 
• whether those facts amount to a breach of the code or not; and 
• your reasons for reaching that conclusion. 

Final reports 

The final report should be issued by the monitoring officer and must be sent to: 

• the subject member; 
• the complainant; 
• the relevant Independent Person; 
• the relevant parish or town council of which the subject member is a 

councillor. 

The report must make one of the following findings on the balance of probabilities: 

• that there have been one or more failures to comply with the Code of 
Conduct; 

• that there has not been a failure to comply with the Code. 

If the monitoring officer considers that there has been no breach of the Code, that 
should usually be the end of the matter though they may want to send the report or 
a summary to the standards committee where you have one for information 
purposes only or to consider wider lessons. 

If the monitoring officer considers that there has been a breach of the Code, the 
monitoring officer will decide what action, if any, to take and notify the relevant 
parties. For example, they may decide to seek an informal resolution at this stage 
or decide that the matter is merely a technical breach which will not lead to any 
sanction. In doing so the monitoring officer should consult with the independent 
person. 

Page 78



If the monitoring officer decides the matter should be referred for a hearing, the 
report should be accompanied by information explaining that a hearing will be held 
and the procedure to be followed. (see guidance on holding a hearing) 

Publishing a report 

Where a matter has been referred to a hearing you do not need to publish the report 
as that will be dealt with at the Hearings Stage. 

Where you have concluded that there has been no breach, that no further action is 
needed, or the matter has been resolved in some other way you do not need to 
publish the investigation report but you should report the matter to your standards 
committee. If the matter has generated local interest you may consider putting out 
a brief statement explaining the outcome and your reasoning. The report may also 
be disclosable under a Freedom of Information request but that would need to be 
considered depending on the content of each report, the need to redact personal 
information and careful consideration given to the public interest test as to whether 
it should be disclosed or not. 

Report checklist 

Your report should contain the information listed below. 

• a ‘confidential’ marking 
• a ‘draft’ or ‘final’ marking 
• the date 
• the legislation under which the investigation is being carried out 
• a summary of the complaint 
• the relevant sections of the Code 
• evidence 
• your findings of fact 
• your reasoning 
• your finding as to whether there has been a failure to comply with the Code. 

The level of detail required will vary for each report, depending on the complexity 
of information to be considered and presented. The report should, however, contain 
documents that you have relied on in reaching your conclusions. These may 
include: 

• a chronology of events 
• summaries of conversations, correspondence and notes of interviews with 

witnesses. 

In addition, the covering letter you send with the draft report should explain that 
the report does not necessarily represent your final finding. You should also 

Page 79



explain that you will produce a final report once you have considered any 
comments received on the draft report. 

When you send the final report, you should also explain that the report represents 
your final findings and, if it is to be subject to a hearing, it will be for the panel to 
decide if they agree with your view or not. It is important that the report has the 
date of its completion on the front page. This provides clear evidence of when the 
time within which a hearing should be held begins. 

The date of the hearing should be within three months from the date the monitoring 
officer, or delegated officer, completes the final report (see guidance on hearings). 

There should be no appeal allowed either for the subject member or the 
complainant. Where a breach has been found and the matter is going to a hearing 
the parties will have their chance to have their say on the investigation at that 
stage. Where no breach has been found, no action taken or the matter otherwise 
resolved, that will be the end of the matter. 

5. Investigation practicalities 

Outsourced investigations 

There are a number of reasons why you might outsource an investigation. This 
may be because of the complexity of the matters means that you want an 
experienced investigator to carry out the investigation. High-profile or politically 
contentious cases may require a greater degree of independence from the authority 
to be demonstrated. It may also be because the authority’s investigatory resources 
internally are limited or at capacity due to other workloads. 

In addition, most successful investigation report writers have experience of writing 
reports for lay people or councillors. They understand that their reports need to be 
clear enough for someone with no legal background to understand how they 
reached their decision. They also need to be clear enough to show what factors 
were taken into account when reaching that decision. You would need to consider 
if you have that capacity in your organisation. 

Objectivity is also important. It may be difficult for an officer to consider whether 
a colleague was bullied or treated disrespectfully for example. There will be cases 
when an officer can investigate a complaint where a colleague is the complainant. 
However, this can only be done if you are sure that they have the necessary 
impartiality to conduct the investigation, with no perception of bias. 

It is important, however, to stay in control of outsourced investigations. To do so 
you will need to do the following: 

Page 80



1. Agree the scope of any delegation. In particular be clear who has 
responsibility for preparing the investigation report and if necessary, 
presenting it to a hearing panel; 

2. Agree the scope of the investigation. In particular be clear what allegations 
are being investigated and what should happen if the investigator discovers 
evidence of further potential breaches of the Code of Conduct; 

3. Agree a firm deadline. You need to agree when the case will be completed 
and consider whether there will be any financial implications if the case is 
not completed on time; 

4. Agree interim deadlines. You should agree when you will receive key pieces 
of work including the investigation plan, the draft report and the final report. 
If the investigating officer is new, then you may wish to programme in 
regular investigation updates; 

Agree the payment structure. You may want to consider how you structure the 
payment for investigations. It is not unreasonable to pay per stage of work 
completed, and for any additional investigative stages to be agreed as and when 
they occur. 

Start of an investigation 

Draw up an investigation plan. This will help focus you on making the 
investigation as effective as possible. The plan should include: 

• The complaint made against the subject member. You may find it necessary 
to seek clarification from the complainant; 

• The paragraphs of the Code of Conduct that may have been breached. Please 
note that you do not need to accept the complainant’s interpretation of what 
paragraphs may have been breached. It is helpful to breakdown each 
potential failure to comply into the component parts of each provision. For 
example, in considering whether a councillor has misused their position 
improperly to gain an advantage you may need evidence to demonstrate 
that: 

1) the councillor used their position; 

2) the councillor used their position improperly; 

3) the councillor conferred or attempted to confer an advantage or disadvantage. 

• The facts which need to be determined to establish if the councillor 
breached the Code and to decide what the appropriate finding might be. 
They need to include: 

               1) facts which would establish if the conduct happened as alleged; 

Page 81



       2) facts that would need to be proven to show that the conduct constituted a   

     breach of the Code; 

    3) facts which might aggravate or mitigate the alleged breach, for example, 
provocation or an apology. 

• The evidence that you would need to determine the issues outlined in your 
plan. This includes who you will need to interview and why; 

• The evidence that has already been supplied by the complainant; 
• How you plan to gather any further evidence you are likely to need; 
• Any documents you are likely to need to see such as minutes of meetings or 

register of interest forms and you can get them from; 
• If you are not the monitoring officer and are doing the investigation under 

delegation, make sure you have confirmation on the extent and scope of the 
investigation and build in check-in points with the monitoring officer on 
progress; 

• How long you think it is likely to take you. 

If at any stage in the investigative process there are significant changes to any of 
the above areas, an investigation plan review may need to be completed. 

Contact the complainant and subject member to advise them of your contact details 
and provide them with a preliminary timescale for the investigation. You should 
also remind the subject member of their right to seek the views of an Independent 
Person. 

At the end of your investigation, you should have documents which chart the 
approach you took to the investigation, the reasons for this approach, and when 
you changed your approach if appropriate. You do not need to share these 
documents with the parties involved in the investigation – they are for you to use 
as you wish. Their main function is as a planning tool, but they also provide an 
audit trail should your investigation be the subject of a complaint or review. 

The investigation 

Information requests 

Documentary evidence should be sought before you conduct any interviews and at 
the earliest opportunity. The list in your investigation plan should form the basis of 
the first contact you make with the parties and other witnesses. 

You may invite the subject member to provide an initial response to the allegation 
in writing when first making written contact with them. This gives councillors the 
opportunity to admit to the breach if they would like to do so, and could then save 

Page 82



time and effort for all involved. A written response may also provide you with 
additional useful information before the interview stage. 

Where you make a specific request for information this should be made in writing, 
even if the initial contact is made by phone. Explain the authority you have for 
asking for the documents and the broad purpose for which you need the document, 
for example ‘an investigation into the conduct of Councillor X’. You do not need 
to provide the detail of the complaint against the councillor at this stage. You 
should also outline the confidentiality requirements that relate to the information 
request and set a deadline for response. 

In certain cases, you may wish for a subject member or other party not to be made 
aware of a request for evidence. For example, if you consider that this might lead 
to destruction of evidence by one of the parties or to the improper collaboration of 
witnesses. In such circumstances it may be appropriate to arrange to meet with the 
witness, having given them a brief outline of your role. You can then make your 
request for the relevant documents during the meeting. It is important here that you 
explain what powers you have to obtain information. If in doubt, it may be prudent 
to seek legal advice on how to proceed. 

If the request for information is refused it is likely to prove time consuming and 
legally complex to try to pursue the matter. It may be easier to see if there is 
another route to obtaining the same information. 

Interviewing 

Your goal in interviewing is to obtain the most informed, reliable evidence 
possible. It is not to ambush or catch out interviewees. 

Order of interviews 

You may have spoken the subject member initially for their initial reaction, but 
you will normally interview the subject member again formally at the end of the 
investigation, when you have gathered all your evidence, if they have not admitted 
to the breach at first contact. This will give you the opportunity to put that 
evidence to the subject member and obtain their responses to it. 

Where practicable it may be best to carry out consecutive interviews on the same 
day if you are concerned that witnesses may collude or use information provided to 
them. 

You may also wish to re-interview the complainant near the end of the 
investigation on the same timescale as you are interviewing the subject member. 
This may allow you to get them to agree facts. It also gives them an opportunity to 
comment on issues that have been raised during the course of the investigation and 

Page 83



provides an opportunity to present potential inconsistencies to the relevant parties 
for comment. 

The format of the interview 

It might be more appropriate to conduct face-to-face or virtual interviews than 
telephone interviews if: 

1. the matters involved are sensitive; 
2. the interviewee is vulnerable; 
3. you or they will need to refer to multiple documents during the interview; 
4. the interviewee wishes to have a representative or colleague present; 
5. the interview is with the subject member. 

It may be more appropriate to conduct a telephone interview if: 

1. there are significant resource implications, either in terms of cost or time in 
conducting a face-to-face interview; 

2. the interview does not fall into one of the categories outlined above. 

If a subject member or witness insists on a face-to-face interview, then serious 
consideration should be given to their request. You should specifically check that 
there is no medical or disability-related reason for their request. If there is, then 
you should conduct a face-to-face interview. If there is no medical or disability-
related reason, then the decision is at your discretion. If you still wish to proceed 
with a telephone interview despite their request, then you should outline your 
decision in writing on the file. This is to show that it was both proportionate and 
reasonable. 

Do not conduct joint interviews. It is important that each witness gives their own 
account without having their recollection influenced by hearing another person’s 
account. An interviewee may, however, have a friend or adviser present. If so that 
person should not be someone who is a witness, and they should be asked to keep 
the matters confidential. If an interviewee is a vulnerable person or a minor, you 
may wish to ensure that you are accompanied by another person. 

The venue 

If you are conducting a face-to-face interview, try to ensure that the venue is: 

1. mutually convenient on neutral territory – this would generally include local 
authority offices but this may not always be appropriate; 

2. in a private room where you cannot be overheard; 

Page 84



3. a place where the interviewee will feel comfortable and is unlikely to be 
seen by people whose presence may intimidate or upset them, for example, 
the complainant or subject member; 

4. is safe for you, the investigating officer - please refer to any authority policy 
on lone working. 

Occasionally it may be appropriate to conduct an interview at the home of the 
interviewee. This should generally be at the request of the interviewee, but you 
should only do this if you feel safe and there is no suitable alternative. 

Information you should provide interviewees 

You should provide the following information in writing to the interviewee: 

1. Confirmation of the agreed time, date and venue or that it is a telephone or 
virtual interview. 

2. Confirmation that the interview will be recorded, if appropriate. 
3. Confirmation that the interviewee can have a legal or other representative 

with them, but that the representative must not be a potential witness in the 
investigation. Ask that they provide you with the name and status of their 
representative before the interview. 

4. Why you are conducting the interview. 
5. How the information they give you in the interview may be used. 
6. The circumstances in which the information that they give you during the 

interview may be made public. 
7. The confidentiality requirements that they are under as an interviewee. 
8. Details and copies of any documents you may refer to during the interview. 
9. In the case of the subject member, details and copies of any evidence you 

have gathered and which you may refer to in your report. 

You do not have to disclose witness testimony prior to the interview, depending on 
the nature of that testimony and whether you want the interviewee’s account prior 
to putting the witness’s testimony to them. However, you may wish to disclose a 
witness’s testimony during an interview once you have obtained the interviewee’s 
own account. 

You could also consider providing an outline of the areas you intend to cover at 
interview. 

Note: if you only need to confirm one or two factual details with a local authority 
officer you may contact them by phone and do not need to forewarn them. 
However, when obtaining this information, you should: 

1. orally outline all of the information you would otherwise have provided in 
writing as set out above; 

Page 85



2. check that they are happy to give it to you then, rather than at an agreed date 
in the future; 

3. confirm the detail of information they do provide, in writing. 
4. Special circumstances 

If an interviewee has additional needs, for example a disability (seen or unseen) or 
language barrier you should make reasonable provisions to cater for their specific 
needs. If an interviewee is vulnerable or a minor, then they should always be 
accompanied by a third party at the interview. 

Structuring an interview 

Interviews should be planned in advance. You can plan your questions using the 
following suggested format: 

1. Divide the information you require into discrete issues. For example, Issue 
1: The planning meeting on date x; Issue 2: The planning meeting on date y. 

2. Make a note of the evidence you have already obtained about each issue. 
3. Note how you would briefly summarise the evidence to the interviewee. 

Conducting the interview 

All important interviews should be recorded where possible or else detailed notes 
taken which are agreed afterwards with the interviewee. The only exception is 
when the interview is likely to cover only a small number of factual matters. In this 
case, it may be more appropriate to resolve these factual matters in writing. Before 
recording an interview, you should: 

1. obtain the consent of the interviewee before you start recording the 
interview; 

2. ask them to record their consent on the record once you have started and; 
offer to send the interviewee a copy of the transcript or draft interview 
statement, whichever is applicable. 

If they ask, you can send them a copy of the recording too. If you are concerned 
that the interviewee may share the transcript with other witnesses, you can delay 
sending the transcript or recording until you have completed all of your interviews. 

The interviewee should not normally be allowed to make a recording of the 
interview. This is to prevent collusion between interviewees and any possibility of 
record tampering. 

Interview recordings should be destroyed as soon as a transcript of the interview 
has been produced and agreed as accurate. 

Page 86



At the start of the interview 

When the interviewee arrives, try and put them at ease; 

1. Before you start the formal interview, inform the interviewee that there is 
a standard interview preamble that you must take them through. This 
ensures that any rapport you have established is unlikely to be lost when you 
take them through the legal framework of the interview; 

2.  Confirm that the interview will be recorded and put the recording device 
in a visible place on the desk; 

3. With their permission start recording; 
4. Ask them to confirm for the record that they consent to the recording; 
5. Confirm for the record who you are, and why you are conducting 

the Interview; 
6. State the date and time for the record; 
7. Confirm that they received your letter outlining the arrangements for 

the interview; 
8. Confirm that they read and understood your letter and ask if they have 

any questions about any of the information within it; 
9. If the interview is with the subject member, repeat orally all of 

the   information contained in your letter; 
10. If the interviewee is at all unclear about anything, then repeat orally all 

of the information contained in your letter; 
11. Explain that they can take a break whenever they choose;  
12. Explain that you will offer them a break if the interview goes over an 

hour,  even if they have not said that they want one; 
13. Tell them how long the interview is likely to take and ask them if they 

have a time by which it needs to end;  
14.  Explain that they can ask you to rephrase a question if they 

don’t understand it. 

During the interview 

1. Start the interview with the subject member with some background 
questions. These could include ‘how long have you been a councillor, or 
‘what training have you had on the Code of Conduct?’. 

2. Do not ask multiple questions. Ask one question at a time, and do not ask 
another question until the interviewee has answered your first question; 

3. Do not dart back and forth between different issues as you are liable to 
confuse yourself and the interviewee; 

4. Tackle one subject issue at a time; 
5. Ask open questions about information the interviewee or other witnesses 

have provided about the issue; 

Page 87



6. Drill down. In other words, ask open questions about one specific issue until 
you have all the information you need on it; 

7. Where relevant ask the interviewee to reconcile differing accounts; 
8. Ask closed questions to confirm the information you have obtained about 

the specific issue; 
9. Move onto the next issue using the same method. Start with a broad open 

question about the subject, drill down for information with specific open 
questions. Conclude the area by asking closed questions to confirm what 
you have been told; 

10. Do not ask leading questions, for example, ‘You said this to the clerk, didn’t 
you?’; 

11. Do not ask the interviewee to speculate; 
12. Accurately put the evidence of other interviewees to the interviewee and ask 

for their response; 
13. When asked, explain the relevance of your question; 
14. Do not allow the interviewee’s lawyer or representative to answer a 

question; 
15. You must allow the interviewee to stop and obtain advice whenever they 

choose; 
16. If the interviewee becomes upset or unwell you must offer them a break; 
17. Never raise your voice. Only interrupt if the interviewee is being 

unreasonable or is not providing relevant information; 
18. You should be mindful of avoiding oppressive or repetitive questioning. If 

an interviewee will not properly answer a question, despite significant 
attempts to obtain a satisfactory response, then you should move on to 
another point or issue; 

19. Do not question the subject member about matters which fall outside the 
scope of the complaint; 

20. If the interviewee wants a break, record the time of the break on the record 
and the time you resume the interview. Ask the interviewee to confirm for 
the record that you did not discuss anything about the case with them during 
the break. 

Closing the interview 

1. State the time the interview finished; 
2. Thank the interviewee for their time and outline what will happen next; 

After the interview 

1. Send the interviewee a copy of the transcript; 
2. State in the letter that if you do not hear from them by a specified date, you 

will assume the transcript is agreed; 

Page 88



3. If the content of the transcript is disputed, check the discrepancies against 
the recording; 

4. If the transcript is confirmed by the recording, write to the interviewee to 
inform them of this. In these circumstances, if the matter is referred to a 
hearing, submit the transcript, the recording, the interviewee’s letter 
outlining the dispute, and your response. 

Evaluating the information after an interview 

1. Review your investigation plan in light of the information gathered during 
the interview; 

2. Review all the evidence you have gathered to determine if there are any 
gaps in it; 

3. Take a view on all disputed relevant matters. Your own opinion on the 
evidence is sufficient. However, if you are unable to come to a decision, you 
may need to seek further information or decide that you are unable to reach 
a conclusion; 

4. Weigh up all the evidence and decide if the alleged conduct occurred; 
5. If you decide that the subject member acted as alleged, you will need to 

consider whether their conduct involved a failure to comply with the Code 
of Conduct; 

6. If you decide the subject member breached the Code, consider whether you 
have evidence of any mitigating or aggravating circumstances. If not, you 
may need to seek further information. 

Drafting the report 

When you have concluded your investigation, you will need to write up your 
findings in a report which should contain the following information: 

1. who the report is for; 
2. who the report is by; 
3. the date of the report. 

Executive summary 

This should include: 

1. the full allegation and who it was made by; 
2. the provisions of the Code of Conduct that were considered; 
3. a conclusion as to whether there has been a failure to comply with the 

Code the finding; 
4. any relevant extracts from the Code and any other legislation or protocols 

considered in the report. 

Page 89



Evidence gathered and the investigator’s consideration 

1. Set out all the relevant evidence you have gathered even if it does not 
support the conclusions you have reached; 

2. State what you consider has taken place based upon your evaluation of this 
evidence; 

3. Set out undisputed facts as facts. Do not summarise them or preface them 
‘he said’ or ‘the minutes state’. If they are undisputed just state them as fact. 

4. Where there is a disputed fact, outline the different views and your 
conclusion on them. You need to form a conclusion based on the balance of 
probabilities. Also state why you have reached this conclusion. For 
example: 

• The clerk, Councillor Jones and Councillor Smith met at Councillor Jones’s 
house on y date at x time; 

• At interview the clerk stated that Councillor Jones said….. 
• At interview Councillor Smith stated that Councillor Jones told the clerk… 
• At interview Councillor Jones stated that he told the clerk… 
• I have considered the following issues when deciding what Councillor Jones 

said to the clerk… I consider at on the balance of probabilities Councillor 
Jones told the clerk…because… 

5. Include any mitigating or aggravating factors, such as the state of mind of 
those involved. 
 

6. When you refer in the report to material in the evidence bundle, identify the 
document referred to. 

Summary of the material facts 

Summarise the facts needed to confirm the conclusions you have reached. Where 
there was a disputed fact, you will only need to include the conclusion you came 
to. 

If the subject member has made additional submissions which you do not consider 
relevant to the case outline why you do not deem information or opinions 
submitted by the subject member to be relevant. 

Reasoning as to whether there has been a failure to 
comply with the Code of Conduct 

1. Make each alleged breach in turn. 

Page 90



2. Outline which part of the Code of Conduct you are considering. Explain the 
test you are applying when determining if there has been a failure to comply 
with the Code. 

3. Explain in detail, giving reasons, why you do or do not consider that the 
conduct constitutes a breach of the Code. 

4. Do not introduce any new facts or opinions. You must only refer to evidence 
or opinions that have been outlined earlier in the report. 

Make sure your explanation of the test you are applying, and the reasons for your 
conclusions, are detailed and clear enough to understand for a lay person with no 
legal background. 

Finding 

You should make a finding about each alleged breach of the Code: 

1. Outline in detail the reason for your decision 
2. Refer to aggravating or mitigating facts, which must be outlined in the facts 

section earlier in the report. 

Schedule 

Your report should include any documents taken into account: 

1. Exhibit all the evidence upon which you have relied when reaching your 
conclusion; 

2. In complex cases it may be appropriate to provide a chronology; 
3. Provide a list of unused material if appropriate. 

Issuing a draft report 

You should send a draft report, sending a copy to the subject member and the 
complainant and inviting their comments by a specified date. If you have carried 
out an investigation on behalf of the monitoring officer, you should first of all 
make sure they are happy that the draft is to an acceptable standard. 

The draft should not be sent to other witnesses or parties interviewed, but you 
should seek confirmation of their evidence from them before issuing the report. 

Ensure that the draft report is clearly marked as ‘Draft’ and ‘Confidential’ (though 
it can be discussed with a legal representative) and make clear that the report may 
be subject to change and does not represent your final conclusion. 

If you have found the subject member in breach, make sure that the evidence that 
you have relied upon when reaching this conclusion is clearly marked in the report. 

Page 91



You must consider whether any of the information in the draft report is sensitive 
personal information that should not go into the public domain, for example, 
medical reports details or personal contact details. Information of this nature 
should be edited from the draft and final report unless it is essential to the 
reasoning. 

Comments on the draft 

Responses to your draft may reveal the need for further investigation, or they may 
add nothing of relevance. Occasionally changes may be significant enough for you 
to consider issuing a second draft. 

Once you have considered whether the responses add anything of substance to the 
investigation, you will be able to make your final conclusions and 
recommendations. 

Where comments on the draft are critical of the investigation or the investigator, 
you may need to consider how to respond to the complaints made. You should not 
let such criticisms prevent a draft report being finalised, however, unless this is 
unavoidable. In particular, the investigation process, including writing the report, 
should not be suspended while a complaint about the investigation is dealt with. 
Complaints about the conduct of investigators should be dealt with in the same 
way as other service complaints. 

You should keep a written record of your consideration of any comments received 
on the draft. It is best practice to provide a written response to the party explaining 
your position or referring them to the relevant paragraph of the report. This can be 
done when they are sent the final report. You should avoid getting drawn into 
lengthy correspondence with the subject member or other interested parties where 
they disagree with the draft. You should confine comments to matters of fact rather 
than personal opinions as to how the investigation was done or the opinion you 
have reached. However, you will need to show that you took all reasonable steps to 
address concerns. 

If you receive further comments after the final report has been issued you should 
explain that the investigation is now closed and refer them to the person who is 
dealing with any hearing if appropriate. 

The final report 

You must state that the report represents your final finding. If you have found the 
subject member in breach you should make sure the reasoning for that conclusion 
and any supporting evidence is clear. You must consider whether any of the 
information in the report or evidence bundle is confidential information that should 
not go into the public domain, for example, medical details, personal contact 

Page 92



details or signatures. All information of this nature should be edited from the final 
report unless it is essential to the reasoning. 

You should send the final report to the monitoring officer if you are not the 
monitoring officer who will then issue the report. If you are the monitoring officer, 
you must send your report to: 

1. The subject member 
2. The Independent Person 

A copy may also be made available to the complainant and others as you think 
appropriate. 

The monitoring officer must decide whether: 

1. There has been no breach and therefore no further action will be taken; 
2. There have been one or more breaches, but no further action is needed; 
3. There have been one or more breaches, but the matters should be resolved in 

a way other than by a hearing; or 
4. That the matters be referred to a hearing. 

This should be made clear in the letter accompanying the report and if the 
monitoring officer decides that the matter should be referred to a hearing panel, 
they should arrange for that to happen as soon as possible (see separate section on 
hearings). The letter should also make clear what if any aspects of the report are 
confidential but that it can be discussed with a legal representative. If the matter is 
being referred to a hearing it should be made clear that the whole report remains 
confidential until the time of the Hearing to avoid prejudicing any considerations. 

Confidentiality during the investigation 

While it is important during the course of an investigation to preserve 
confidentiality so as not to compromise the integrity of the investigation, in 
practice in some circumstances, maintaining the confidentiality of an investigation 
can be difficult. However, it is important that you take all reasonable steps to 
maintain the confidentiality of your investigation, as failure to do so may 
compromise the investigation. To help maintain confidentiality: 

1. Mark all of your letters, transcripts and reports as confidential; 
2. Outline why you have marked it confidential but clearly inform subject 

members in writing that they can appoint a solicitor, or other person, to act 
as their representative. You must also clearly inform them that they can 
disclose any relevant document to this representative. 

3. You should state that their representative should not be someone who may 
be involved in the investigation; 

Page 93



4. It is important that you make it clear to all parties that they should make any 
approach to witnesses in writing. This is to avoid confusion that might arise 
about the investigative process; 

5. When arranging interviews ask interviewees to identify the name of any 
person who is accompanying them to the interview. Also ask them to state 
what their relationship is to the interviewee. You should explicitly state, in 
writing, that they should not be accompanied by anyone who may be called 
as a witness in the investigation; 

6. If you think it is possible that witnesses may discuss their testimonies with 
each other, you should not send the transcripts of any interviews until all of 
the interviews have been concluded. This may mean that you send interview 
transcripts out with the draft report; 

7. Where you are interviewing a number of people who have close 
relationships with one another, it may be prudent to interview them 
immediately after each other. This reduces any opportunity for 
collaboration. 

If confidentiality is breached you should write to the party reminding them of the 
confidentiality requirements and, if they are a councillor, of their duties under the 
Model Code of Conduct. If you have evidence that information was disclosed to a 
party prior to their interview, you can take this into account when evaluating the 
reliability of the witness’s evidence. If the disclosure was made by a councillor, 
you can consider making a formal complaint about their conduct. 

6. The hearings process 

Once a formal investigation has taken place, the monitoring officer may refer the 
matter to a hearing. 

There is no prescription in the legislation that says a matter has to go to a hearing 
or how that hearing may be conducted. Whatever approach you decide to take it 
must follow the rules of natural justice and comply with the obligations to ensure a 
fair hearing under Article 6 of the Human Rights Act. In line with the principle of 
proportionality the approach you take may depend upon the seriousness of the 
issue. For example, if you are satisfied that the investigation has allowed all sides 
to have their say the panel may simply review the report without further reference 
to the parties. 

This guidance is written however on the presumption that a hearings panel of some 
form, consisting of elected councillors, will be convened. 

The legislation stipulates that, where it is a town or parish council case, the matter 
is dealt with by the principal authority. 

Page 94



Throughout this guidance we will refer to panel, but by that we mean a committee 
or a sub-committee which the local authority (or a committee, such as an Audit or 
Standards Committee) has delegated responsibility to determine the outcome of 
certain complaints that individual councillors have breached the Code of Conduct. 

Convening a hearing 

At the end of the investigation, a hearing may be called where the investigator has 
concluded that there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct and the monitoring 
officer has concluded that the matter cannot otherwise be resolved informally (see 
guidance on informal resolution). 

For reasons of fairness and proportionality a hearing should wherever possible take 
place within three months of the date on which the investigator’s report was 
completed. Where that is not possible, for example because the matter is awaiting 
the outcome of other matters being dealt with by outside bodies or other 
investigations into the subject member, the monitoring officer should notify the 
relevant parties of the reason for the delay and provide an estimated timescale. 

However, the hearing should not take place sooner than 14 days after the 
investigation report has been issued unless the subject member agrees. This is to 
allow them sufficient time to prepare their defence and consider any witnesses they 
may wish to call for example (see section on the pre-hearing process below) 

Once a date has been set for a Hearing the monitoring officer should notify: 

• the subject member; 
• the investigator; 
• the relevant Independent Person; 
• the complainant if appropriate; 
• the clerk of any relevant town or parish council. 

They should also outline the hearing procedure; the subject member’s rights and 
they should additionally ask for a written response from the subject member within 
a set time. This is to find out whether the subject member: 

• wants to be represented at the hearing 
• disagrees with any of the findings of fact in the investigation report, 

including reasons for any of these disagreements 
• wants to give evidence to the hearing, either verbally or in writing 
• wants to call relevant witnesses to give evidence to the standards committee 
• wants to request any part of the hearing to be held in private 
• wants to request any part of the investigation report or other relevant 

documents to be withheld from the public. 

Page 95



The investigator should also be asked if they wish to call any witnesses. 

If the subject member is unable to make the specified date the panel may arrange 
for the hearing to be held on a different date, provided that they are satisfied that 
the subject member has given an acceptable reason. Where the subject member 
does not give an acceptable reason or does not reply within a specified time, the 
panel should proceed with the date and may consider the report in the subject 
member’s absence if the subject member does not go to the hearing. The subject 
member should not be able to evade having the case heard simply by refusing to 
cooperate and the Model Code makes failure to cooperate a potential breach. 
However, the panel should make clear at the start of the hearing that they have 
considered whether they can proceed in the absence of the subject member and 
should record their reasons. 

If one or more witnesses are unavailable on the given date the monitoring officer, 
in consultation with the chair of the panel, should decide how material they would 
be to the hearing and whether another date needs to be looked for. Witnesses, 
especially members of the public, often play an important part in the process and 
should be treated with courtesy and respect although it may be that their views 
were already sought as part of the investigation so the panel would need to 
evaluate how they could proceed without them. Witnesses should be kept promptly 
informed of the relevant dates, times and location of the hearing. 

Except in the most complicated cases, the panel should aim to complete a hearing 
in one sitting or in consecutive sittings of no more than one working day in total. 
When scheduling hearings, you should bear in mind that late- night and very 
lengthy hearings are not ideal for effective decision-making. Equally, having long 
gaps between sittings can lead to repetition or important matters being forgotten. 

Role of the monitoring officer 

It is important that the panel receives high quality, independent advice. For this 
reason, a monitoring officer should be the main adviser to the standards committee, 
unless they have an interest in the matter that would prevent them from performing 
this role independently. This may be because they have carried out the 
investigation or have another conflict (see guide on investigations). If this situation 
arises, a monitoring officer should arrange for another appropriately qualified 
officer to advise the standards committee. 

The monitoring officer or other legal adviser’s role in advising the panel is to: 

• make sure that members of the standards committee understand their powers 
and procedures 

• make sure that the procedure is fair and will allow the complaint to be dealt 
with as efficiently and effectively as possible 

Page 96



• make sure that the subject member understands the procedures the panel will 
follow 

• provide advice to the panel during the hearing and their deliberations. 
• help the panel produce a written decision and a summary of that decision. 

Monitoring officers play an important role in advising their councillors on a day-
to-day basis. When performing this role, monitoring officers need to be aware of 
the potential conflicts of interest that can arise, as these conflicts could prevent 
them from advising the panel at a later stage. 

Monitoring officers will need to be aware of the potential conflicts involved in 
investigating a matter, advising the panel and advising councillors (see also 
guidance on investigations). 

However, conflicts of interest are not likely to arise simply from informal 
discussions between councillors and monitoring officers. 

You may wish to consider options for reducing the likelihood of such conflicts, 
including: 

• arranging for another officer to advise councillors 
• continuing to advise councillors, while identifying possible scenarios that 

may lead to future conflicts. 

You should also ensure that if your advice could be relevant to an investigation, 
you have another appropriately experienced officer who is prepared to support the 
panel in its hearings and deliberations. 

Smaller authorities in particular may find it useful to make arrangements with 
neighbouring authorities to make sure that when a conflict arises, an appropriately 
experienced officer is available to advise the panel. 

Composition of the panel 

The panel should be drawn from the main body of the standards committee. If the 
panel includes independent representatives or parish representatives, they do not 
have voting rights by law. 

You will need to be clear whether political proportionality applies to the panel or 
whether it has been waived by the local authority. 

All panel members should have undergone suitable training. 

Holding a pre-hearing 

Page 97



As soon as a date has been set for a hearing the panel should hold a private pre-
hearing. This could be done in writing or just between the monitoring officer and 
the Committee chair for expediency. The purpose of the pre-hearing process is to 
allow matters at the hearing to be dealt with more fairly and economically. This is 
because it quickly alerts parties to possible areas of difficulty and, if possible, 
allows them to be resolved before the hearing itself. The pre-hearing should also 
decide who will chair the panel. 

At the pre-hearing the panel should: 

• Decide whether any of the findings of fact in the investigation report are in 
dispute and, if so, how relevant they are likely to be at the hearing. For 
example, if the dispute is about the time of a particular conversation but that 
time is not relevant to whether the Code has been breached or not, there 
would be little point focussing on that. On the other hand, if that alleged 
discrepancy were material the panel needs to satisfy itself how it would 
resolve that difference at the hearing. 

• Consider any additional evidence it considers is required at the hearing. 
• Identify any witnesses it thinks it would want to hear from. 
• Decide if witnesses which the subject member or investigator may want to 

call are relevant bearing in mind the nature of the issue and the need for 
proportionality. For example, if an incident has occurred at full council there 
would be no need to call every member as a witness but equally the panel 
may feel it needs to hear from a couple of witnesses representing different 
sides. Similarly, if the subject member decides to call a number of character 
witnesses the panel should take a view as to how relevant that is and how 
many would suffice. 

• Consider whether there are any parts of the hearing that are likely to be held 
in private or whether any parts of the investigation report or other 
documents should be withheld from the public prior to the hearing, on the 
grounds that they contain ‘exempt’ material (see section on confidentiality 
below) though the final decision will rest with the panel on the day. The 
presumption should be to hold a public hearing unless there is specific 
exempt or confidential information as defined by Part VA of the Local 
Government Act 1972 so identifying that at the pre-hearing will have some 
bearing on publication of any relevant papers. 

• Identify any potential conflicts of interest, for example any close 
associations with the people involved or potential witnesses. The monitoring 
officer will advise if any conflicts mean that a councillor should stand down 
from the panel. 

It is important that at the pre-hearing panel members do not debate the merits of 
the case. 

Page 98



Note that this pre-hearing would not of itself be a formal meeting so would not be 
open and often these matters can be dealt with through correspondence. Once the 
pre-hearing has been held the monitoring officer should write to everyone involved 
in the complaint at least two weeks before the hearing. This should confirm the 
date, time and place for the hearing, note whether the subject member or 
investigator will be represented at the hearing. It should also list those witnesses, if 
any, who will be asked to give evidence and outline the proposed procedure for the 
hearing. 

The hearing 

A hearing is like any other committee or sub-committee of the authority and as 
such must follow the rules that apply to committees. This means that it must reflect 
the political proportionality of the local authority as a whole unless the authority 
has waived proportionality and that only elected members of the authority are 
entitled to vote at the Hearing. The rules around access to information also apply as 
they do to other committees – that is the hearing will be in public unless there are 
lawful reasons for all or part of it to be heard as exempt or confidential matters. 

Panel members should bear in mind that it is not a court of law. It does not hear 
evidence under oath, but it does decide factual evidence on the balance of 
probabilities. 

The panel should work at all times in a demonstrably fair, independent and 
politically impartial way. This helps to ensure that members of the public, and 
councillors, have confidence in its procedures and findings. Decisions should be 
seen as open, unprejudiced and unbiased. All concerned should treat the hearing 
process with respect and with regard to the potential seriousness of the outcome, 
for the subject member, the local authority and the public. For the subject member, 
an adverse decision by the committee can result in significant reputational damage. 

Representatives 

The subject member may choose to be represented by counsel, a solicitor, or by 
any other person they wish. This should have been agreed at the pre-hearing and if 
the panel has any concern about the person chosen to represent the subject 
member, they should have made that clear beforehand. The panel does, however, 
have the right to withdraw its permission to allow a representative if that 
representative disrupts the hearing. However, an appropriate warning will usually 
be enough to prevent more disruptions and should normally be given before 
permission is withdrawn. 

Evidence 

Page 99



The panel, through its chair, controls the procedure and evidence presented at a 
hearing, including the number of witnesses and the way witnesses are questioned. 

In many cases, the panel may not need to consider any evidence other than the 
investigation report and any other supporting documents. However, the panel may 
need to hear from witnesses if more evidence is needed, or if people do not agree 
with certain findings of fact in the report. 

The panel can allow witnesses to be questioned and cross-examined by the subject 
member, the investigator or their representatives. Alternatively, the panel can ask 
that these questions be directed through the chair. The panel can also question 
witnesses directly and the Independent Person should also be asked if they wish to 
ask any questions. It is not a legal requirement that the Independent Person attend 
the hearing, but it is best practice and the authority must have regard to their views 
when reaching a decision. If the Independent Person does not attend therefore, 
there must be an agreed mechanism for receiving their views. 

If the panel believes, however, that questions are irrelevant or oppressive then the 
chair should stop that particular line of questioning. 

Generally, the subject member is entitled to present their case as they see fit, which 
includes calling the witnesses they may want and which are relevant to the matters 
to be heard. However, the panel has the right to govern its own procedures as long 
as it acts fairly. For this reason, the panel may limit the number of witnesses if the 
number is unreasonable. This should have been agreed at the pre-hearing. 

Making a finding 

Once the panel has heard all the relevant evidence it should suspend the hearing 
and retire in private to consider its finding. 

Before retiring the chair should invite the Independent Person to give their views to 
the panel which the local authority must have regard to. These views should be 
given in the open session so that all sides can have a chance to challenge them as 
necessary. If the Independent Person retires with the panel, they should not take 
part in any decision making as they are not part of the formal decision-making 
process. In addition, they should ensure that any views they give to the panel are 
also made publicly to the meeting. 

Any officer who retires with the panel is there to advise on matters of procedure 
and law. Any advice given, however, must then be conveyed back publicly to the 
meeting. 

If the panel, after retiring, decides that it needs to reconsider certain matters it is 
able of reconvening to ask further questions. 

Page 100



Once the panel has reached its decision it should reconvene to inform the subject 
member. Where a breach has been found, it should then invite representations as to 
any aggravating or mitigating factors (see below) before retiring again to consider 
an appropriate sanction. 

It is good practice to make a short written decision available on the day of the 
hearing, and to prepare the full written decision in draft on that day, before 
people’s memories fade. The officer providing administrative support to the panel 
will normally also draft minutes of the meeting. 

The panel should give its full written decision to the relevant parties as soon as 
possible after the hearing. In most cases this should be within one week of the 
hearing. 

The relevant parties are: 

• the subject member 
• the complainant 
• the relevant Independent Person 
• any parish or town councils concerned. 

Where appropriate the subject member’s political group may also be informed of 
the decision if the sanction requires group action (see below) and should also be 
sent to the next full council meeting. 

Sanctions  

There is no definitive list of possible sanctions (The Government's response to the 
Committee on Standard in public life 2019 is awaited). If the panel finds that a 
subject member has failed to follow the Code of Conduct and that they should be 
sanctioned, it needs to be clear which sanctions it has the power to impose and 
which matters are reserved to council or need to be referred to a relevant political 
group. 

Typical sanctions may include one or a combination of the following: 

• report its findings in respect of the subject member’s conduct to council (or 
the relevant parish council) 

• issue (or recommend to the parish council to issue) a formal censure 
• recommend to the subject member’s group leader (or in the case of un-

grouped councillors, recommend to council) that they be removed from any 
or all committees or sub-committees of the authority (or recommend such 
action to the parish council) 

• recommend to the leader of the authority that the subject member be 
removed from positions of responsibility 

Page 101



• instruct the monitoring officer to (or recommend that the parish council) 
arrange training for the subject member 

• recommend to council (or recommend to the parish council) that the subject 
member be removed from all outside appointments to which they have been 
appointed or nominated by the authority (or by the parish council); 

• recommend to council (or recommend to the parish council) that it 
withdraws facilities provided to the subject member by the authority for a 
specified period, such as a computer, website and/or email and internet 
access; or 

• recommend to council (or recommend that the parish council) that it 
excludes the subject member from the authority’s offices or other premises 
for a specified period, with the exception of meeting rooms as necessary for 
attending council, committee and sub-committee meetings and/or restricts 
contact with officers to named officers only 

• if relevant recommend to council that the subject member be removed from 
their role as leader of the authority 

• if relevant recommend to the secretary or appropriate official of a political 
group that the councillor be removed as group leader or other position of 
responsibility. 

Note that where the subject member is a parish or town councillor, the matter is 
referred back to their council to say that a breach of the Code has been found and 
with a recommended sanction. The town or parish council must then meet to 
consider whether to impose that sanction or to replace it with another relevant 
sanction. They cannot overturn the finding that there has been a breach of the Code 
and if they wish to impose a different sanction they should seek advice from the 
clerk and/or the monitoring officer. The panel should also ask the parish or town 
council to report back to the monitoring officer within three months to confirm that 
they have met to discuss the sanction, and if necessary, to write again once the 
sanction has been fulfilled. 

Note that under the Model Code of Conduct failure to comply with a sanction may 
of itself be a breach of the Code. 

When deciding on a sanction, the panel should ensure that it is reasonable, 
proportionate and relevant to the subject member’s behaviour. Before deciding 
what sanction to issue, the panel should consider the following questions, along 
with any other relevant circumstances: 

• What was the subject member’s intention? 
• Did the subject member know that they were failing to follow the Code of 

Conduct? 
• Did the subject member get advice from officers before the incident? Was 

that advice acted on or ignored? 
• Has there been a breach of trust? 

Page 102



• Has there been financial impropriety, for example improper expense claims 
or procedural irregularities? 

• What was the result or potential result of failing to follow the Code of 
Conduct? 

• How serious was the incident? 
• Does the subject member accept they were at fault? 
• Did the subject member apologise to the relevant people? 
• Has the subject member previously been warned or reprimanded for similar 

misconduct or failed to follow the Code of Conduct before? 
• Is the subject member likely to do the same thing again? 
• How will the sanction impact on the subject member’s ability to carry out 

their role? 

Sanctions involving restricting access to an authority’s premises or equipment or 
contact with officers should not unnecessarily restrict the subject member’s ability 
to carry out their responsibilities as an elected representative or co-opted member. 

Mitigating factors may include: 

• an honestly held, although mistaken, view that the action concerned did not 
constitute a failure to follow the provisions of the Code of Conduct, 
particularly where such a view has been formed after taking appropriate 
advice; 

• a councillor’s previous record of good service; 
• substantiated evidence that the councillor’s actions have been affected by 

ill-health; 
• recognition that there has been a failure to follow the Code; co-operation in 

rectifying the effects of that failure; an apology to affected persons where 
that is appropriate, self-reporting of the breach by the councillor; 

• compliance with the Code since the events giving rise to the complaint. 

Aggravating factors may include: 

• dishonesty or breaches of trust; 
• trying to gain an advantage or disadvantage for themselves or others; 

• bullying; 
• continuing to deny the facts despite clear contrary evidence; 
• seeking unfairly to blame other people; 
• failing to heed appropriate advice or warnings or previous findings of a 

failure to follow the provisions of the Code; 
• persisting with a pattern of behaviour which involves repeatedly failing to 

abide by the provisions of the Code. 

Publicising the findings 

Page 103



The panel should arrange for a decision notice to be published on the website of 
any authorities concerned, and anywhere else the panel considers appropriate. 

If the panel finds that the subject member did not fail to follow the authority’s 
Code of Conduct, the public summary must say this and give reasons for this 
finding. 

If the panel finds that the subject member failed to follow the Code but that no 
action is needed, the public summary should: 

• say that the councillor failed to follow the Code, but that no action needs to 
be taken; 

• outline what happened; 
• give reasons for the panel’s decision not to take any action. 

If the panel finds that a councillor failed to follow the Code and it imposed a 
sanction, the public summary should: 

• say that the councillor failed to follow the Code; 
• outline what happened; 
• explain what sanction has been imposed; 
• give reasons for the decision made by the panel. 

The panel’s reports and minutes should be available for public inspection in the 
same way as other local authority committee papers. 

Appeals 

Given that the framework and sanctions are meant to be light-touch and 
proportionate, there should be no right of appeal against a decision on a Code of 
Conduct complaint. 

18 Smith Square, Westminster, London SW1P 3HZ 
info@local.gov.uk 020 7664 3000 
Copyright © 2022 
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 
03675577 
 

Page 104

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
tel:02076643000


Constitution, Chapter 7, Part 2 Page 217 of 354 
Procedure for making Complaints against a Councillor 

25 July 2012 

Part 2 – Procedure for making Complaints against a 
Councillor for breach of the Code of Conduct 

1 Introduction 

1.1 This Procedure provides for the receipt, initial assessment, investigation and 
determination of complaints made under the Code of Conduct for Members 

1.2 The following terms used in this Procedure are defined as follows. 

Complainant the person making the complaint 

Member the elected councillor or co-opted member subject to the 
complaint 

Investigator either an officer of the Council and / or an independent 
Investigator whom the Monitoring Officer has asked to 
investigate a complaint 

Monitoring Officer the Council officer with statutory responsibilities under 
section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 
and as set out below in this Code – in Thurrock Council, 
the Monitoring Officer is currently the Assistant Director of 
Law and Governance 

Independent Person a person or persons appointed by the Council to advise it 
or the Member on the determination of complaints 

Members Advisory Panel the Members' Advisory Panel is a Working Group of the 
Council's Standards and Audit Committee which will 
conduct a local hearing to consider whether the Member 
has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct and, if so, 
whether to recommend actions in respect of the Member 
to the Monitoring Officer 

Appellant the person appealing a decision under this Procedure 

Respondent the person responding to an appeal 

2 How to make a complaint 

2.1 Any person may make a complaint under the Code of Conduct. Complaints must: 

2.1.1 Be made in writing, i.e. by email or letter addressed to the 

Monitoring Officer 
Legal Services 
Civic Offices 
New Road 
Grays 
RM17 6SL 

or to the contact email address on the Council's website. 

Page 105



Constitution, Chapter 7, Part 2 Page 218 of 354 
Procedure for making Complaints against a Councillor 

25 July 2012 

2.1.2 Include the full name and address of the Complainant; 

2.1.3 Identify the Member complained of; 

2.1.4 Set out the nature and substance of the alleged breach of the Code of Conduct for 
Members. It is recommended that complaints include or attach evidence to 
support the allegation. 

2.2 Upon receipt of a complaint complying with 2.1 above, the Monitoring Officer will send a 
copy of the Complaint to the Member and the Independent Person. 

3 Initial assessment 

3.1 The Council's Monitoring Officer will receive and assess all complaints to determine 
whether the complaint should be investigated. If the Monitoring Officer considers that s/he 
can resolve the complaint through informal mediation or discussion, s/he may take this 
step before determining whether a complaint should be investigated. 

3.2 The following complaints are normally not suitable for investigation, save where the 
Monitoring Officer accepts there are exceptional circumstances: 

3.2.1 Complaints that are really about Council services, its policies or performance. 
Such complaints will be referred to the relevant service area in accordance with 
the Council's Complaints Policy. 

3.2.2 Complaints that are really about the political policies or performance of a 
councillor in their role. Such complaints will be referred to the councillor and / or 
their political group for response. 

3.2.3 Complaints that relate to another authority or an alleged breach of another 
authority or body's Code of Conduct. 

3.2.4 Vexatious or frivolous complaints or complaints which are intended to insult 
individuals. 

3.2.5 Minor or "tit-for-tat" complaints that do not justify the time and resources of an 
investigation. 

3.2.6 Complaints which relate to matters or events more than 3 months before the date 
when the complainant first became aware of the matters or events. 

3.2.7 Complaints by a member against another member will not normally be 
investigated until the Monitoring Officer considers that other processes – for 
example, informal mediation or political group processes have been exhausted. 

3.2.8 Complaints by officers should be first made under the Member / Officer Protocol 

3.2.9 Complaints that are already subject to other internal or external processes will not 
be investigated until those other processes have completed to enable the 
complaint to be resolved by other means. Determination of such complaints will be 
suspended until the other process is finalised. 

Page 106



Constitution, Chapter 7, Part 2 Page 219 of 354 
Procedure for making Complaints against a Councillor 

25 July 2012 

3.3 In making decisions at 3.1 and 3.2, the Monitoring Officer will consult the Council's 
independent person (or where it has more than one independent person, one of the 
independent persons). 

3.4 The Monitoring Officer may request further evidence or information from the Complainant. 
The Monitoring Officer may request an initial response from the Councillor complained of 
(or any other person) or take any other steps s/he considers reasonable to assist her 
determination. 

3.5 The Monitoring Officer will inform the complainant and member in writing of their decision 
within 30 days of receipt of the complaint. Where the Monitoring Officer is not able to 
respond within this time, s/he will inform the complainant and member of the date by which 
a decision will be made. 

3.6 The Complainant will have 7 days from the date of the Monitoring Officer's letter to ask for 
a review of a decision not to investigate a complaint. The application for review must be 
submitted in writing to the Monitoring Officer setting out the reasons for the review. The 
review will be determined by the Council's Chief Executive. If the Chief Executive 
considers the review should be upheld, the complaint will be investigated in accordance 
with Section 4. 

4 Investigation 

4.1 The Monitoring Officer will arrange for the complaint to be investigated by either an officer 
of the Council and / or an independent investigator. The Monitoring Officer may provide 
terms of reference for the investigation, which will focus on investigation of the factual 
evidence in support or against the allegation. The Member concerned has a duty to co-
operate with the investigation. 

4.2 The Investigation will follow its terms of reference and will include but is not limited to: 

4.2.1 An opportunity for the Complainant to provide further evidence to support their 
allegation and / or the names of witnesses that they consider may provide relevant 
evidence. 

4.2.2 An opportunity for the Member to provide further evidence to support their 
allegation and / or the names of witnesses that they consider may provide relevant 
evidence. 

4.2.3 Taking evidence from any witnesses (or considering any documents) the 
Investigator considers may be relevant to the investigation. 

4.3 If the Investigator considers that the terms of reference of the investigation may require 
amendment – for example, there is evidence of an additional potential breach of the Code 
of Conduct – he will raise this with the Monitoring Officer who will determine the 
appropriate course of action. 

4.4 The Investigation will take no longer than 2 months from the date of the appointment of the 
investigator, unless the Monitoring Officer agrees that the investigation period should be 
extended. 

Page 107



Constitution, Chapter 7, Part 2 Page 220 of 354 
Procedure for making Complaints against a Councillor 

25 July 2012 

4.5 The Investigator will provide a written report to the Monitoring Officer in respect of the 
allegations. 

5 Members' Advisory Panel hearing 

5.1 The Monitoring Officer will report the matter to the Members' Advisory Panel (Panel) which 
will conduct a local hearing to consider whether the Member has failed to comply with the 
Code of Conduct and if so, whether to recommend action in respect of the Member to the 
Monitoring Officer. The Members' Advisory Panel (a Working Group of the Standards and 
Audit Committee) will be held within 30 days of receipt by the Monitoring Officer of the 
investigation report to determine recommendations on the complaint. The Independent 
Person will be present at the Panel's Hearing and may advise both the Panel and the 
Member. 

5.2 The Panel Hearing will normally take the following order: 

• Investigation Report 

The Investigator will present their report and evidence (and may call witnesses). 
The Complainant and Member may question the investigator and any witnesses 

• The Complainant's Case 

The Complainant presents their evidence and calls any witnesses. The Member 
may then question the Complainant and any witnesses. 

• The Member's Case 

The Member presents their evidence and calls any witnesses. The Complainant 
may then question the Member and any witnesses. 

• Final Submissions 

The Complainant and Member will present their final submissions in this order. 

5.3 The Panel may ask questions of any person at any time. 

5.4 After hearing final submissions, the Panel will withdraw to consider its decision and may 
consult with the Independent Person when doing so. 

5.5 After reaching its decision, the Panel will either announce its recommendation at the 
hearing or inform the parties that the decision will be provided in writing to them within 7 
days. Any verbal decision must be followed by written confirmation of the decision and its 
reasons within 7 days. 

6 Sanction 

6.1 Where a member is found in breach of the Code of Conduct, there is no statutory power to 
sanction the Member. The Panel may decide to recommend to the Monitoring Officer: 

6.1.1 That no further action is necessary 

Page 108



Constitution, Chapter 7, Part 2 Page 221 of 354 
Procedure for making Complaints against a Councillor 

25 July 2012 

6.1.2 To impose one or more of the following sanctions (or any other lawful sanction as 
advised by the Monitoring Officer) 

6.1.3 Censure or reprimand the member 

6.1.4 Publish its findings in respect of the member's conduct 

6.1.5 Report its findings to Council for information 

6.1.6 Recommend to the member's Group Leader (or in the case of un-grouped 
members, recommend to Council or to Committees) that he/she be removed from 
any or all Committees or Sub-Committees of the Council 

6.1.7 Recommend to the Leader of the Council that the member be removed from the 
Cabinet, or removed from particular Portfolio responsibilities 

6.1.8 Recommend to Council that the member be replaced as Executive Leader 

6.1.9 Instruct the Monitoring Officer to arrange training for the member 

6.1.10 Remove from all outside appointments to which he/she has been appointed or 
nominated by the authority 

6.1.11 Withdraw facilities provided to the member by the Council, such as a computer, 
website and/or email and Internet access; or 

6.1.12 Exclude the member from the Council's offices or other premises, with the 
exception of meeting rooms as necessary for attending Council, Committee and 
Sub-Committee meetings 

6.2 Before reaching its decision, the Complainant and Member have the right to make 
submissions as to the appropriate sanction (if any). Where the decision is communicated 
in writing, the Council will re-convene the Panel Hearing to consider the question of 
sanction and the above procedure will apply. In such situations, either party may submit its 
representations in writing to the Monitoring Officer in advance of the re-convened hearing. 

7 Appeals against a determination hearing decision 

7.1 There is no right of appeal by either party against a decision of the Monitoring Officer or of 
the recommendations of the Member's Advisory Panel; 

7.2 If you feel that the authority has failed to deal with the complaint properly, a complaint may 
be made to the Local Government Ombudsman. 

8 Governance 

8.1 The Panel Hearings are not subject to the Council's Procedure Rules as they apply to 
Committees save as required by law or as set out below. 

8.2 The Council's Access to Information Rules will apply to Panel Hearings and so will 
normally be held in public. 

Page 109



Constitution, Chapter 7, Part 2 Page 222 of 354 
Procedure for making Complaints against a Councillor 

25 July 2012 

8.3 The quorum for the Panel shall be two elected Members of the Council drawn from at least 
two different political parties and two Independent Members. 

8.4 The Panel has power to postpone the hearing and / or adjourn a part heard hearing to a 
later if, in either case, it considers this is necessary to allow it to hold a fair hearing but 
taking into account the need to determine all complaints in a prompt manner. 

8.5 The Chair of the Panel shall have a second and casting vote. 

8.6 The Panel may determine the length of the hearing and any individual stages, e.g. the 
length of final submissions, taking into account the nature and complexity of the complaint 
and evidence and ensuring that both parties have a reasonable opportunity to present 
their case. The Panel will inform the parties of any time limits at the start of the meeting. 

8.7 The Panel will take advice from the Monitoring Officer or any legal advisor appointed by 
the Monitoring Officer to advise the Panel in her/his absence at any time during the 
hearing or while they are considering the outcome. 

8.8 Decisions will be made by simple majority and the standard of proof to be applied is the 
balance of probabilities in any findings against the member. Abstentions are not permitted. 

Page 110



 

Questions from Members to the Leader, Cabinet Members, Chairs of 
Committees or Members appointed to represent the Council on a Joint 
Committee in accordance with Chapter 2, Part 2 (Rule 14) of the 
Council’s Constitution. 
 
There were 3 questions to the Leader and 8 questions to Cabinet Members, 
Committee Chairs and Member appointed to represent the Council on a Joint 
Committee. 
 
QUESTIONS TO THE LEADER 
 
1. From Councillor Worrall to Councillor M Coxshall 

 
 In your recent interview with BBC Essex you stated that to deal with the 
level of debt our council is facing nothing is off the table, including all of 
our assets. Can you expand on what you meant by this? 
 

2. From Cllr J Kent to Councillor M Coxshall 
 
Will the Leader of the Council give an update on the work of the 
Improvement and Recovery Board? 
 

3. From Cllr J Kent to Councillor M Coxshall 
 
Will the Leader of the Council give an update on the ongoing review of 
council assets? 

 
QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS TO CABINET MEMBERS, COMMITTEE 
CHAIRS AND MEMBERS APPOINTED TO REPRESENT THE COUNCIL 
ON A JOINT COMMITTEE 
 
1. From Councillor J Kent to Councillor M Coxshall 
 

When does the Portfolio Holder expect the future of the Thameside to 
be resolved? 

 
2. From Councillor J Kent to Councillor Abbas 
 

There is much concern in Thurrock's Voluntary Sector at the Portfolio 
Holder's proposal to cut funding to the sector by 10%, next year. Will 
he have a rethink and maintain funding to our voluntary sector at, at 
least, the same level as this year? 

 
3. From Councillor Worrall to Councillor Spillman 
 

What impact has the Council's financial crisis had on the Housing 
Revenue Account and Housing General Fund budgets? 

 
4. From Councillor Shinnick to Councillor M Coxshall 
 

Page 111

Agenda Item 11



 

Can you please inform me if any measures are being taken to make 
sure the past mayors names can be highlighted on the stone plaques 
in the Council Chamber, so we are able to read their names? 

 
5. From Councillor Byrne to Councillor M Coxshall 
 

Can the Portfolio Holder update the Chamber on the current state of 
play with Stanford Station please? 
 

6. From Councillor Watson to Councillor Maney 
 
 Can the Portfolio Holder for Transport please tell me what Thurrock 

Council is doing to mitigate the ongoing issues around Purfleet 
Academy for parking in Flint Street, Schoolfield and London Road 
during drop off and pick up times? 

 
7. From Councillor Watson to Councillor M Coxshall 

 
We have a cross party shared ambition for the regeneration plans for 
Purfleet on Thames. Can the Portfolio Holder for Growth tell me what is 
the likely impact to those plans in light of the financial crisis? 
 

 
8.  From Councillor Muldowney to Councillor M Coxshall 

 
Further to my questions at the 13th October council meeting about the 
money owing to the Elsie Florence Grover/Flat Irons Field Trust, please 
can the PFH confirm that this money will be hypothecated for use in 
Chadwell for the benefit of Chadwell's children? 

Page 112



Motions Submitted to Council  
 
In accordance with Chapter 2, Part 2 (Rule 15) of the Council’s Constitution 
 
Motion 1 
 
Submitted by Councillor Polley 
 
Cost of Living - This Council resolves to work with the Government to ensure that it 
delivers the much-appreciated support to the residents of Thurrock as quickly as 
possible, and that the Council proactively identifies those most in need of support in 
the Thurrock area and ensure that they have access to all the Government support 
they are eligible for. 
 

Monitoring Officer Comments: 

The key work associated with delivering Government support will in most cases be 
an Executive function. However, Council can agree a motion which encourages the 
actions set out in the motion. 
 
 
Section 151 Officer Comments: 
 
We are in agreement with this.  Allocation has been agreed via the Cabinet briefing 
note published on the 12 October 2022 and the detail can be found in that report. 
 
 
Is the above motion within the remit of Council to approve?  
 
Yes 

Page 113

Agenda Item 15



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	 
	Helpful Reminders for Members
	When should you declare an interest at a meeting?

	6 Questions from Members of the Public
	8 Petitions Update Report
	10 Ethical Standards - Changes to the Constitution
	Ethical Standards Changes to the Constitution - Appendix 1
	Ethical Standards Changes to the Constitution - Appendix 1a
	Ethical Standards Changes to the Constitution - Appendix 1b
	Ethical Standards Changes to the Constitution - Appendix 1c
	Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling
	Publicising the complaints system
	Convening a hearing
	Role of the monitoring officer


	Ethical Standards Changes to the Constitution - Appendix 1d

	11 Questions from Members
	15 Motion submitted by Councillor Polley



